<
yr .
N
Cityof 7
Sherwood
Oregon
Hotne of the Thialatin River National Wildlife Refisge

CITY COUNCIL MEETING
PACKET

FOR
Tuesday, August 2, 2022

Sherwood City Hall
22560 SW Pine Street
Sherwood, Oregon

6:00 pm City Council Executive Session
(ORS 192.660(2)(d), Labor Negotiation Consultation)

7:00 pm City Council Regular Meeting
URA Board of Directors Meeting

(Following the City Council Meeting)

This meeting will be live streamed at
https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood



https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood
https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood

AGENDA
w e D SHERWOOD CITY COUNCIL
1tyof August 2, 2022
61 WOO
Oregon
Horme of the Tualatin River National Wildlife Refuge 6:00 pm C|ty Council Executive Session
(ORS 192.660(2)(d), Labor Negotation Consultation)
6:00 PM EXECUTIVE SESSION 7:00 pm City Council Regular Session
1. Labor Negotation Consultation URA Board of Directors Meeting
(Steven Schuback, Legal Counsel) (following the City Council Regular Meeting)
Sherwood City Hall
7:00 PM REGULAR SESSION 22560 SW Pine Street
Sherwood, OR 97140
1. CALL TO ORDER This meeting will be live streamed at
https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
3. ROLL CALL
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
5. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Approval of July 14, 2022 City Council Meeting Minutes (Sylvia Murphy, City Recorder)
B. Resolution 2022-061, Reappointing Brian Fairbanks to the Sherwood Budget Committee
(David Bodway, Finance Director)
C. Resolution 2022-062, Authorizing the City Manager to Sign a Service Order with 8x8 for
Telephony Services (Brad Crawford, IT Director)
D. Resolution 2022-063, Recommending Legislative Priorities to League of Oregon Cities for the
2023 Legislative Session (Keith Campbell, City Manager)
6. CITIZEN COMMENTS
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS
A. Resolution 2022-064, Updating the City of Sherwood Water System Development Charges
Methodology and amending the Fee Schedule (David Bodway, Finance Director)
B. Resolution 2022-065, Updating the City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge
Methodology and amending the Fee Schedule (Erika Palmer, Planning Manager)
8. CITY MANAGER REPORT
9. COUNCIL ANNOUNCEMENTS

10. ADJOURN to URA BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING

How to Provide Citizen Comments and Public Hearing Testimony: Citizen comments and public hearing testimony may be provided in person, in writing, or by
telephone. Written comments must be submitted at least 24 hours in advance of the scheduled meeting start time by e-mail to Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov and
must clearly state either (1) that it is intended as a general Citizen Comment for this meeting or (2) if it is intended as testimony for a public hearing, the specific public

City Council Agenda
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 2


mailto:Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov
mailto:Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov
https://www.youtube.com/user/CityofSherwood

hearing topic for which it is intended. To provide comment by phone during the live meeting, please e-mail or call the City Recorder at Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov
or 503-625-4246 at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting start time in order to receive the phone dial-in instructions. Per Council Rules Ch. 2 Section (V)(D)(5), Citizen
Comments, “Speakers shall identify themselves by their names and by their city of residence.” Anonymous comments will not be accepted into the meeting record.

How to Find out What's on the Council Schedule: City Council meeting materials and agenda are posted to the City web page at www.sherwoodoregon.gov, generally
by the Thursday prior to a Council meeting. When possible, Council agendas are also posted at the Sherwood Library/City Hall and the Sherwood Post Office.

To Schedule a Presentation to the Council: If you would like to schedule a presentation to the City Council, please submit your name, phone number, the subject of
your presentation and the date you wish to appear to the City Recorder, 503-625-4246 or Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov

ADA Accommodations: If you require an ADA accommodation for this public meeting, please contact the City Recorder's Office at (503) 625-4246 or
Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov at least 48 hours in advance of the scheduled meeting time.

City Council Agenda 3
August 2, 2022
Page 2 of 2


http://www.sherwoodoregon.gov/
mailto:Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov
mailto:Cityrecorder@Sherwoodoregon.gov

DRAFT

&J ,.gi[@

1ty of
regon
Home of the Tialatin River National Wildlife Refige

SHERWOOD CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES
22560 SW Pine St., Sherwood, Or
July 14, 2022

SPECIAL SESSION

1. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor Mays called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.

2. COUNCIL PRESENT: Mayor Keith Mays, Councilors Kim Young, Taylor Giles, and Doug Scott. Councilor
Sean Garland patrticipated remotely. Councilor Renee Brouse and Council President Tim Rosener were
absent.

3. STAFF PRESENT: City Manager Keith D. Campbell, Interim City Attorney Carrie Richter, Public Works
Director Craig Sheldon, City Engineer Bob Galati, Associate Planner Eric Rutledge, and Planning Technician
Colleen Resch.

4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA:

MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR YOUNG TO APPROVE THE AGENDA. SECONDED BY COUNCILOR
SCOTT. MOTION PASSED 5:0, ALL PRESENT MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR (COUNCILOR BROUSE
AND COUNCIL PRESIDENT ROSENER WERE ABSENT).

Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda item.
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS:

A. Resolution 2022-053, Establishing the Brookman Area Public Sanitary Sewer Reimbursement
District and directing staff to enter into a Reimbursement District Agreement with the developer
(Brookman Development, LLC)

City Engineer Bob Galati presented the “Brookman Development LLC Request to Establish a
Reimbursement District” PowerPoint presentation (see record, Exhibit A) and explained that Brookman
District LLC had requested to form a reimbursement district. He provided an overview of the map of the area
on page 2 of the presentation. Mr. Galati reported that Brookman District LLC had submitted an application
letter with attachments on April 22, 2022 in which the establishment of a reimbursement district was
requested and explained that the application would follow the process requirements for the City of Sherwood
Municipal Code (SMC) Sections 13.24.010-13.24.150, with the final determination being made by the City
Council with adoption of a resolution and the recording of the resolution with the Washington County Clerk,
if applicable. He stated that a Public Works Director’'s Report had been created to fulfill the SMC 13.30. He
City Council Minutes 4

July 14, 2022
Page 1 of 15



DRAFT

provided an overview of the seven requirements of a Public Works Director's Report and the history of
reimbursement districts in Sherwood on pages 4-5 of the presentation. He recapped that the Area 59
Reimbursement District was the last reimbursement district the city had formed, and it covered the public
infrastructure costs associated with the development of the Laurel Ridge Middle School and the Edy Ridge
Elementary School. He continued that the Area 59 Reimbursement District was formed by City Council
Resolution 2008-001, on March 4th, 2008 and Council had extended the reimbursement district an additional
five years via Resolution 2014-073. He reported that the extension also eliminated the interest amount
required to be paid for administration and explained that the initial interest clause stated a 4% per year
compounding rate, which amounted to over $140,000 in interest payments being owed over the 10-year
cycle. He continued that the clause was determined to be written incorrectly and was eliminated from the
reimbursement district extension resolution. City Engineer Galati outlined that the Middlebrook
Reimbursement District resolution language was corrected to a 4% simple interest rate on the initial
reimbursement district value for a one-time fee of $20,000 to cover administration expenses of the
reimbursement district. Mr. Galati explained that the construction cost of the Middlebrook sanitary sewer
trunk line extension was broken into three parts. He stated that trunk lines up to 8-inch in diameter were the
responsibility of the developer and were paid for by the developer. Trunk lines between 8-12-inches
(inclusive) were the responsibility of the city and the amount was why the reimbursement district was being
established. Trunk lines over 12 inches in size were the responsibility of CWS under its regional sanitary
sewer trunk line program, and CWS had already repaid the developer for the CWS share. Mr. Galati provided
an overview of the public sanitary sewer trunk line that was constructed as a part of the Middlebrook
Subdivision Site Development project map on page 6 of the presentation. He reported that the applicant had
submitted a reimbursement area boundary and provided an overview of the proposed area on page 7 of the
presentation. He explained that he was able to determine the potential future impacts and the subdivision
developments that were missed by the applicant’s boundary and should be included in the district, per the
city’s municipal code. He outlined that city staff had created a separate boundary definition that included
Middlebrook, Riverside at Cedar Creek, Reserve at Cedar Creek, Cedar Creek Gardens, Brookman Place,
and a potential future development site within city limits. Mr. Galati outlined that the Cedar Creek Gardens
subdivision would be approved, and city staff were aware that the boundary for the Cedar Creek Gardens
boundary was not established with the southern portion of the area being accessed. He continued that the
subdivision development had extended an 8-inch service line to provide service to the development area, so
city staff had adjusted the boundary to include that area of the subdivision. He continued that the city had
also reduced the area from the tax lot count because that area would go to a different section of the sanitary
line and was not a part of the reimbursement district. Mayor Mays asked if that was also the case with the
rest of the corner that was not in the proposed boundary? Mr. Galati replied that it was not in the proposed
boundary because the area would take service off of a different section and would require an extended trunk
line separate from this particular trunk line. He explained that that particular trunk line was a part of the
Brookman Area extension which took and provided service to the Sherwood High School area and Sherwood
West. He stated that it was an extension that the city was working with Clean Water Services on and was a
much bigger project than the smaller segment they were discussing at this meeting. He recapped the number
of lots that were assigned to be serviced by the Brookman trunk line on page 9 of the presentation and the
table of recommended tax lots and related areas by development on page 10 of the presentation. He
recapped the Sanitary Sewer Oversizing Construction Cost table on page 11 of the presentation and reported
that a Contractor Construction Cost for a 12-inch line was $511,868 and a Contractor Construction Cost for
less Sanitary Sewer SDC Creditable Amount for Oversizing (from 8-inch to 12-inch) was $10,456.71. He
explained that the developers were asking for a reimbursement district to cover their construction cost
because the adjacent property developers would be tapping into the 8-inch line and would not have to pay
for the extension, so the developers were trying to recover the costs of that extension through the 8-inch line.
City Council Minutes 5

July 14, 2022
Page 2 of 15



DRAFT

He stated that the total Reimbursement District Valuation came to $500,964.29. Mr. Galati addressed the
Reimbursement District Cost Allocation Based on Lot Count calculations and said that staff had reviewed the
proposed cost allocation methodology and had found that the methodology did not assign costs in a just and
reasonable manner based on the known and projected usage of the system by the properties within the
district. He explained that it appeared that the applicant’s methodology undersized its own usage and thus
its share of the cost of the system. He continued that city staff did their own calculations based on the known
number of lots that would be in the area and were able to determine a per-lot cost which would then be
applied to the subdivision and was the subdivision’s reimbursement requirement for their subdivision. He
explained that frontage length was an appropriate and typical unit of allocation for street construction costs,
but it was not appropriate for a sanitary system where the benefit a property derived was not connected to
its frontage. He continued that the justification for the 30/70 percent split in valuations were not present. Mr.
Galati stated that he recommended that the cost allocation method be based on the total number of lots in
each development within the district which would, or were expected to, take service from the sanitary trunk
line. The total reimbursement cost was divided by the total number of actual or expected lots within the district
to arrive at a per lot unit cost of $1,585.33. He explained that that figure was then multiplied by the number
of actual or expected lots on each current parcel to arrive at a per parcel cost. He recapped next steps and
reported that they had received one email comment that questioned how the Brookman Area Sanitary Sewer
SDCs impacted the calculations for the Reimbursement District. He stated that staff had concluded that the
SDC methodology for the Brookman Area did not reflect current project intent and was severely undervalued
and the SDC methodology for the area would need to be reevaluated along with the Sanitary Sewer Master
Plan. He stated that it was staff’s opinion that the Reimbursement District valuation was not impacted to any
significant degree. He explained that the Master Plan called out a 10-inch line as well as a 5,500 foot length
of a 10-inch line, and what staff was looking at was significantly more than that for the Brookman area. He
explained that the cost valuation in the Master Plan was $1.8 million for the 10-inch line installation and
currently, the line they were seeking reimbursement costs for was for 4 inches of oversizing costs at
$500,000. He explained that the valuation of the per lineal foot cost for that SDC was miniscule, so a change
in the values of how much credit the city should give them for the SDC to take away from this reimbursement
value did not balance out. He stated that staff agreed that it did balance out and the city should be okay with
that. Mr. Galati continued to recap the next steps in the process and explained that the Building Department
had issued final approvals on 10 homes/lots, which made those homes available for sale and explained that
lots may be sold in the interim between the first and second reading of the proposed resolution. He continued
to explain that if any lots were sold between the two hearings, then the owner information on the current lots
would need to be updated and a new public hearing notice would be needed. Mayor Mays clarified that
second hearings on proposed legislation was for ordinances, not resolutions. Discussion occurred and Mayor
Mays asked Interim City Attorney Carrie Richter to confirm what the City Charter stated. Ms. Richter recapped
that prior to this meeting, Interim City Attorney Alan Rappleyea had advised that a second reading on the
resolution could not occur at this meeting. Discussion occurred and Mayor Mays asked Ms. Richter to confirm
that recommendation by reviewing the City Charter. City Engineer Galati recapped that what staff
recommended was different than what was submitted as far as methodology used, and what staff
recommended had the benefit of being easier to manage, easier to assign, and overall worked into the city’s
system of building permits very easily and staff would like to keep it as simple as possible. Councilor Giles
recapped the issue for his understanding and discussion occurred. Mr. Galati clarified that the city gave the
developers SDC credit for off-site installation of sanitary and the reimbursement district was strictly for the
oversizing cost.

Mayor Mays opened the public hearing and asked for public comment on the proposed resolution. Sherwood
resident Neil Shannon came forward to address Council and stated that he opposed the proposed resolution.
City Council Minutes 6

July 14, 2022
Page 3 of 15



DRAFT

He stated he understood that a PID (Public Improvement District) could have appropriate uses and referred
to Area 59's PID that distributed the costs of water, storm, and sewer improvements to an area that included
large public infrastructure for a new school. He stated that the proposed resolution had few similarities to the
Area 59 PID as there were no public facilities, only private residences under construction. He referred to an
email he had sent the City Recorder prior to the meeting that contained links to two papers (see record,
Exhibit B). He recapped the paper and explained that the paper noted that PIDs were a beneficial mechanism
to fund projects that were otherwise not feasible due to constraints on city budgets and recommended that
local elected officials should closely monitor their PIDs and only use them under proper circumstances. Mr.
Shannon continued that he could better understand the use of a PID if growth was being hampered by
environmental conditions requiring remediation or if there were challenges to developments due to
geographical limitations. He stated that none of those conditions applied to the Brookman Road area,
“demonstrated by the fact that the subdivision has already been approved and construction is proceeding.”
He stated he was concerned that a PID would provide little benefit to the city, but instead “significant financial
benefits to the developers of the Brookman properties.” Mr. Shannon read from an additional paper regarding
PIDs that stated that PIDs could result in negative outcomes for homeowners in PID areas. Mr. Shannon
read from a third paper regarding PIDs that asserted that PIDs were currently “being used by developers and
cities as a way not to pay for development costs for new subdivisions and then burden the homeowners with
development costs.” Mr. Shannon stated that the proposed resolution was a “lose-lose” situation for the city.
Mayor Mays clarified that the proposed reimbursement district was not a PID and that the expenses would
be paid on new lots as a part of construction. City Engineer Bob Galati clarified that the reason for the
oversizing was in order to serve the high school, as the high school was the primary driver for the extension
and size of the line. He added that the city had an IGA with the high school to provide the line in a certain
timeframe and currently, the high school was on a temporary sanitary pumping system.

Applicant representative Joe Schiewe with Holt Homes came forward to address Council and stated that “no
one’s taxes are going up” and clarified that there would only be a charge if they connect to new sewer line,
which would only be new houses. He stated that other jurisdictions charged their fee when the plat was
recorded and recommended the city use that approach instead. He stated that Holt was paying for 46% of
the $500,000 cost, and it was the remaining portion of that cost that they were seeking reimbursement for.

Max Bondar, a land developer with David Weekly Homes, came forward to address Council and stated that
he supported the proposed resolution and supported Mr. Schiewe trying to get the reimbursements back. He
stated that he knew how difficult it was and that he was happy to support Mr. Schiewe getting the costs
reimbursed.

Mayor Mays closed the public hearing and asked for discussion or a motion from Council. Interim City
Attorney Richter stated that Council could take action on the proposed resolution at this meeting through
administrative determination as long as the City Recorder took a roll call vote. Councilor Young asked City
Engineer Galati if the city required the developer to complete the upsizing? Mr. Galati replied that was correct.
Councilor Giles referred to the recommendation from Mr. Schiewe of charging the fee when the plat was
recorded and asked what the drawbacks of that approach were? Mr. Galati replied that it was a matter of
timing with staff. Mayor Mays clarified that the city was not able to charge at the time of the recording of the
plat because some plats had already been recorded. Discussion occurred regarding changing the city’s
methodology. Mayor Mays clarified that any change in the methodology would delay the adoption of the
resolution. Discussion occurred. Mr. Galati clarified that if the methodology was completed on a lot-by-lot
basis, staff could tie it into building permits, whereas if it was done by platting, it would fall on the Engineering
Department to control everything. Councilor Garland asked if the proposed resolution would impact other
City Council Minutes 7

July 14, 2022
Page 4 of 15



DRAFT

areas too? Mr. Galati replied that it would not impact other areas. Mayor Mays asked for further discussion
or a motion from Council.

MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR YOUNG TO ADOPT RESOLUTION 2022-053, ESTABLISHING THE
BROOKMAN AREA PUBLIC SANITARY SEWER REIMBURSEMENT DISTRICT AND DIRECTING STAFF
TO ENTER INTO A REIMBURSEMENT DISTRICT AGREEMENT WITH THE DEVELOPER (BROOKMAN
DEVELOPMENT, LLC). SECONDED BY COUNCILOR GILES. MOTION PASSED 5:0, ALL PRESENT
MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR (COUNCILOR BROUSE AND COUNCIL PRESIDENT ROSENER WERE
ABSENT).

Mayor Mays addressed the next agenda.
B. Appeal Hearing for LU 2021-009 MM Cedar Creek Plaza Multifamily

Interim City Attorney Carrie Richter read aloud the public hearing statement. She asked if Council was able
to be unbiased? She asked if Council had any conflicts of interest? She asked if Council had any ex parte
contacts? Mayor Mays replied that he could be unbiased, and he stated he had driven by the site on his way
to do other things. He addressed ex parte contact and stated that when the original application was
submitted, the applicant had emailed him, and he had replied that the applicant should attend the Planning
Commission meetings and contact city staff if the applicant wished to weigh in on the process. He stated he
had no conflicts of interest. Councilor Young stated she could be unbiased and stated she had visited the
site many times because of the other businesses located in that area. She addressed ex parte contact and
stated that she believed she received the same email from the applicant that Mayor Mays had received and
stated she had not replied to the email. Councilor Scott stated he could be unbiased, and he had no conflicts
of interest. He stated he had not visited the specific lot, but he had visited the areas surrounding the lot many
times. He addressed ex parte contact and stated he had had no ex parte contact. He stated he was previously
the Council liaison for the Planning Commission and stated he believed that he was the Council liaison for
the first public hearing for LU 2021-009, but he was not the liaison through the end of the Planning
Commission hearings or when it was voted on. Mayor Mays stated that he had spoken to former City Manager
Joe Gall and City Manager Keith Campbell about the site in general terms. Councilor Giles stated he could
be unbiased, and he did not have any conflicts of interest. He stated he had previously served on the Planning
Commission when the initial hearings were happening, and he was the Planning Commission City Council
liaison when the voting occurred. He stated he did not participate in any of the deliberation or voting in the
Planning Commission public hearings for LU 2021-009. Councilor Garland stated he had no conflicts of
interest or financial interests. He stated he was vaguely familiar with the location and that he was able to be
unbiased. Interim City Attorney Richter addressed the audience and asked if anyone in attendance wished
to question any of the disclosures from Council? Hearing none, she stated the presentation of the staff report
could occur.

Associate Planner Eric Rutledge presented the “LU 2021-009 MM Cedar Creek Plaza Multifamily Land Use
Appeal Hearing” PowerPoint presentation (see record, Exhibit C) and provided an overview of the appeal
summary. He explained that both the applicant and appellant were Deacon Development, LLC and they had
proposed a 67-unit apartment building and associated site improvements. He stated the zoning was Retail
Commercial and the procedure was a Site Plan Major Modification Type IV land use action. He stated staff
had received three pieces of testimony and said that Council was provided copies of the additional
testimonies shortly before this meeting (see record, Exhibit D and Exhibit E). He explained that the
testimonies were received after the release of the staff report which was why Council was provided the
City Council Minutes 8

July 14, 2022
Page 5 of 15



DRAFT

testimonies after the packet had been published. Mr. Rutledge provided an overview of details of the site and
the land use history. He reported that the Cedar Creek Plaza commercial center had received original Site
Plan and CUP (Conditional Use Permit) approval in 2017. He stated that the area had undergone major
development through the 2017 Site Plan approval and the CUP, and the site included the Ackerly Assisted
Living facility, six retail buildings at the south end of the site, and a modification to the Providence parking
lot. He stated that it did not include any land use approval or use for Lot 2. He stated that in 2017, after the
Site Plan approval, Deacon, the owner of the retail portion of the site, had applied for a subdivision to divide
their single lot into seven distinct lots. He added that three different owners, Providence, Rembold/Ackerly,
and Deacon were involved in the original Site Plan approval. Associate Planner Rutledge stated that after
the subdivision was approved, the applicant sold four of the seven lots and retained Lots 2, 3, and 7, but later
the applicant sold Lot 3. He reported that in May 2021, the applicant applied for a major modification to
develop an 84-unit apartment building on Lot 2, which the applicant owned at the time along with Lots 3 and
7. He addressed the existing conditions at the time of the application submittal and stated that Lot 2 was a
vacant pad, Lot 3 was developed with a commercial building and parking, and Lot 7 was developed with a
commercial building and parking. Mr. Rutledge added that the applicant was relying on the lot area from Lots
3 and 7 to get to the 84 apartment units on Lot 2. He continued that the applicant had sold Lot 3 to a new
owner after they had applied for the development. As a part of the land use process, the new owner of Lot 3
came forward and objected to their lot being included as a part of the lot area calculations in the application.
He stated that the applicant then removed Lot 3 from the application and reduced the unit count from 84 to
67 units, relying on Lots 2 and 7 to get to the 67-unit figure. He explained that the Planning Commission had
made their decision off what was in the revised proposal for the 67-units using Lots 2 and 7. He provided an
overview of the site and stated that it was surrounded by Edy Road and Highway 99W and the surrounding
land uses were mostly Commercial with the exception of High Density townhomes to the east of the
development. He provided an overview of the proposed Site Plan of Lot 2 and proposed building design on
pages 5-6 of the presentation.

Interim City Attorney Carrie Richter stated that the site was zoned as Retail Commercial and was surrounded
by Commercial zoning to the north, east, and south and the site abutted a High Density Residential zone to
the west, which had been developed with townhomes. She explained that under the Sherwood Zoning and
Development Code (SZCDC) Section 16.22.020, it specified the uses that were allowed in Commercial zones
when multifamily housing was provided. She read from the table and stated that, “Multi-family housing,
subject to the dimensional requirements of the High Density Residential (HDR) zone in 16.12.030" and
explained that it was the cross-reference to the HDR zone dimensional standards that was the subject being
discussed. She clarified that the review was subject to the dimensional requirements she had just stated.
She explained that the table on page 8 of the presentation was taken from SZCDC 16.12.030 and showed
that the first two multifamily units must be located on a lot that was at least 8,000 square feet and the lot
must increase in size by an additional 1,500 square feet for every unit after that and stated that that was the
lot area that was at issue in this case. Ms. Richter addressed page 9 of the presentation and provided an
overview of the applicant’s evaluation of minimum lot area. She explained that in order to get to the proposed
84-units, the applicant relied on lot areas from Lots 2, 3, and 7 to reach 145,490 square feet. She recapped
that at the first Planning Commission hearing, the owner of Lot 3 objected to their lot area being used in the
applicant’s proposal. She continued that the applicant then revised their proposal in March 2022 to 67-units
which would require 105,500 square feet, with the applicant relying on the lot areas from Lots 2 and 7. She
reported that in the revised application from March 2022, the applicant maintained that “each of the applicable
development standards addressed below are satisfied to at least the minimum stipulated requirements.” She
reported that at the Planning Commission hearings, a number of Commissioners raised their concerns about
the applicant borrowing lot area from another lot. The applicant argued that the transfer of lot area complied
City Council Minutes 9

July 14, 2022
Page 6 of 15



DRAFT

because the definition of “lot” in the code was, “A single lot of record; or a combination of complete lots of
record, or complete lots of record and portions of other lots of record” which would allow the applicant to
borrow lot area from another lot. Interim City Attorney Richter explained that the Planning Commission
determined that the lot area standards were “dimensional requirements” applicable to multifamily housing
within the Retail Commercial zone. She outlined that the list of multifamily uses cited “dimensional
requirements” and the table in subsection C of the High Density Zone cited “development standards” not
“dimensional requirements.” She explained that the Planning Commission then had to determine whether lot
area was a dimensional requirement and had concluded that lot area was a dimensional requirement. She
explained the Planning Commission’s reasoning was that determining lot area required inquiry into the
dimensional requirements, and all of the dimensional requirements in the table were directed to a singular
lot. She outlined that the Planning Commission also reasoned that if you could borrow area from a non-
contiguous lot, that same borrowing would also be needed in order to calculate the lot width, lot depth, and
lot setback which would be impossible if they were non-contiguous lots. She reported that the Planning
Commission also noted that the term “lot area” was defined in the code which cited a measurement of total
horizontal area “within the lines of a lot” and noted that such a measurement was not possible when the lots
were not contiguous. She clarified that the Planning Commission had reasoned that one should be able to
draw a line around the outside without lifting your pencil. She explained that the definition of “lot area” was
that the outside boundaries of either one lot, or two adjacent lots, to be referred to as a “parcel,” and parcels
had contiguity between lots and the Planning Commission had determined that lots must touch in order to
qualify for shared lot area. She reported that the Planning Commission had also noted that Lot 7 had already
been developed and its lot area was no longer available for borrowing. She outlined that the Planning
Commission’s decision was now before Council on appeal and the city had received a petition for review
along with written testimony from the applicant. She addressed “Appeal Issue #1 — Violation of the Needed
Housing Statute” and stated that the Appellant argued that the “dimensional requirements” were not the same
as the “development standards” because the table in SDC 16.12.030.B referred to “required minimum lot
areas, dimensions and setbacks shall be provided in the following table” and the Appellant argued that “lot
area” was not a dimension. She continued that the Appellant argued that there was ambiguity in the question
of whether or not lot area was a dimensional requirement. Ms. Richter stated that there was a state law that
stipulated that when cities were reviewing applications for housing, cities were constrained to consider only
clear and objective standards and stated that the Appellant was arguing that determining whether or not lot
area was a dimensional standard was not clear and objective. She continued that the Planning Commission
had concluded that determining whether or not a lot included enough square footage to support a number of
units was not a subjective determination as the actual calculation itself was not subjective. She outlined that
context was often used when determining the definition of a term and stated that SDC 16.12.030.A stated
that “No lot area...or other site dimension...shall be reduced below the minimum required by ...code” and
stated that this suggested that lot area was a “site dimension.” She continued that it was understood that lot
depth and width were dimensional requirements, then it stood to reason that lot area was also a dimensional
requirement. Interim City Attorney Richter addressed “Appeal Issue #2 — The Definition of “Lot” Allows for
Aggregation” and stated the Appellant argued that the definition of “lot” included “complete lots of record”
and since the word “lot area” included the term “lot,” the “area” must also include the outside dimensions of
multiple “lots” and should not be considered clear and objective. Ms. Richter reported that the Planning
Commission had determined that when considered in a context, a “lot” was a “parcel of land” which may
contain two connected lots of record, but they must be contiguous, and the Planning Commission felt that
there was no ambiguity in the term “lot area.” She addressed “Appeal Issue #3 — Modification of an Approved
Site Plan Allows for Shared Lot Area” and stated the Appellant argued that as a modification of an existing
site plan, the applicant was allowed to share lot area between lots that were previously approved. She
reported that the Planning Commission’s discussion had focused on the code language itself and had
City Council Minutes 1 O

July 14, 2022
Page 7 of 15



DRAFT

determined that the focus of the “lot area” definition was on “lot,” which was created by a subdivision approval
and not a site plan and conditional use application. She reported that Lots 2 and 7 were created by a separate
land use approval in 2017 and could not be undone through a site plan modification. Ms. Richter stated that
in applications where needed housing was proposed, and an applicant offered conditions to make the
application comply with the regulations, Council must approve the application with conditions. She continued
that in other types of applications, Council could deny or approve with conditions, but that was not the case
with needed housing. She outlined that the Appellant had identified two additional conditions for approval
and stated the first additional condition was “Reducing the proposal to 65 units to acknowledge the reduction
in lot area resulting from an existing easement.” Ms. Richter clarified that easement area did not count as a
part of the lot area, and if Council decided that aggregation of lot area was permitted, then condition #1 would
be appropriate. She stated that the second additional condition was “Recording a restrictive covenant
prohibiting the construction of any additional dwelling units on Lots 2 and 7” and explained that this would
resolve the issue of borrowing multiple times. Interim City Attorney Richter reminded Council that their role
in the consideration of the appeal was to review the Planning Commission’s decision for error pursuant to
the issues raised on appeal, and not to consider new issues or new evidence. She outlined that in Fall 2021,
the HDR dimensional standards in SDC 16.010.030 were amended and it was unlikely that these concerns
would come up again in future cases. She added that the “lot area” definition was not addressed in those
amendments, so the question of borrowing lot area from non-contiguous lots may come up again in the
future. She explained that because it was “one basket of issues” that was the basis for denial by the Planning
Commission, and if Council decided to affirm the Planning Commission’s decision and the matter was
appealed to LUBA, LUBA could agree with the Appellant which would likely result in LUBA reversing the
city’s decision. She explained that in cases where LUBA reversed decisions, LUBA had the obligation to
grant attorney fees to the challenger if they determine that a city acted outside of its range of discretion. Ms.
Richter outlined the Council alternatives as: A.) Tentatively affirm the Planning Commission’s decision and
deny the application based on the Planning Commission Findings Report dated May 24, 2022 and the City
Council’'s deliberation, B.) Tentatively amend the Planning Commission’s decision and deny the application
with additional/amended findings of non-compliance, or C.) Tentatively reverse the Planning Commission’s
decision and adopt findings of compliance for SZCDC subsection 16.12.030, 16.22.020, and 16.90.020(D)(1)
including any additional conditions of approval. She stated that in either option, Council should authorize
Mayor Mays to sign a Notice of Decision including written findings consistent with the Council’s tentative
decision on or before July 22™. Councilor Scott asked why the word “tentatively” was used in all of the City
Council Alternatives? Interim City Attorney Richter replied that it was because the city had not written their
findings explaining how the Council was going to respond to the appeal issues because the city had not
heard from the parties yet. She added that Council could choose to authorize Mayor Mays to sign the Notice
of Decision with the written findings...Councilor Scott interrupted and summarized that staff would write up
the finings based on the option Council chose and then those would be executed by the mayor. Ms. Richter
added that if Council did not want to do that, then a special meeting would be needed in order to execute the
decision. Councilor Giles asked if the area of Lot 7 was used when it was developed? Associate Planner
Rutledge replied that yes, 100% of the lot area for Lot 7 was applied to meet the requirements of the Retail
Commercial zone. Councilor Giles asked what the methodology was to determine lot area? Mr. Rutledge
replied that they had used the definition of lot area to determine Lot 7’s lot area. Councilor Scott asked if the
reasoning behind “borrowing” was that, had Lot 7 been developed differently, the applicant would have been
able to build mixed use housing, but because it was not developed into mixed use housing, that allotment
could now be used on a different lot? Mr. Rutledge replied that staff had clarified during the Planning
Commission hearings that the residential entitlements on Lot 7 were not lost and they could decide to
redevelop the lot into mixed use if they wanted to.

City Council Minutes 1 1
July 14, 2022
Page 8 of 15



DRAFT

Garrett Stephenson came forward as an attorney for the Appellant along with Brad Kilby, Planning Manager
with HHPR. Mr. Stephenson stated that the application was for a 65-unit multifamily development within the
existing Cedar Creek Plaza and outlined that the unit count was the only issue being disputed. He provided
background and explained that Lots 2 and 7 were originally a part of the Deacon tract and showed a map of
the project location (see record, Exhibit F). He explained that there were initially three tracts that were part
of the Cedar Creek Plaza and the Deacon tract was then developed. He stated the developers of the Deacon
parcels wished to own their parcel, so the tract was subdivided and sold. He stated that the whole area
remained under the original 2017 Site Plan entitlement and that was why the applicant had gone through the
major modification process instead of submitting a new application. Mr. Stephenson stated that from their
standpoint, they did not believe that there was a density transfer occurring because it was all originally
approved as a part of the same project and remained so today. He voiced that staff had never taken the
position that if the site was bare ground, the developer could not do what they were proposing to do today.
He read aloud from the January 14, 2022 staff report finding stating “while the city code does not have a
process for transferring residential law area entitlement, staff supports the approach because the proposed
building is within the same commercial center/subdivision as the other lots being borrowed” and added that
he did not agree that the Appellant was engaging in borrowing. Mr. Stephenson stated that they were not
aware that there was an issue with density until seven days prior to the Planning Commission meeting. He
voiced that this was not a density transfer but was a utilization of ownership of two lots that were in the same
site plan development area. He addressed the question of if the lot area of Lot 7 had been used and stated
that the lot area of Lot 7 had not been used. He stated that you could “double count” the area of a lot if you
were doing mixed use, which the Appellant was doing. He stated he agreed with Associate Planner Eric
Rutledge’s statement that Lot 7 had not used up its development entitlement for residential. Mr. Stephenson
outlined that their objection to the Planning Commission’s decision was twofold. He stated that this was a
needed housing application, and there was no clear and objective link between the development standard
requirements in the Commercial Retail zone and the standards of the HDR zone. He argued that that was
because the definition of “dimension” was not defined in the code and instead instructed you to look at the
dimensional standards of the HDR when trying to develop housing in Commercial Retail zones. He continued
that section 16.10.010 of the city’s code explained that in cases where there was not a specific definition of
a word in the code, a dictionary definition was to be used. Interim City Attorney Carrie Richter interjected that
the dictionary definition of “dimension” was a new fact that was not in the record and could not be included.
Mr. Stephenson replied that he did not think it was a new fact since the city’s code directly referred to that
dictionary. Associate Planner Eric Rutledge clarified that the city’s code stated that if the definition was not
listed in the code, then the Webster’s dictionary definition of the term was used. Mr. Stephenson continued
that the dictionary definition of “dimension” was a measure in a single line such as length, breadth, depth, or
thickness; one of three coordinates of a position specifically the physical characteristics of length, breadth,
or thickness. He commented that the dictionary definition of “dimension” did not mention “area.” He referred
to the development standard table on page 8 of Exhibit C and stated that the table did not list area as a
dimensional standard. He stated that there was not a specific density standard that applied under this version
of the code. Mr. Stephenson stated that the city had since amended its code to include the missing
information. Mayor Mays asked Interim City Attorney Richter if that was a part of the record? Ms. Richter
replied that it was, and that the code was amended in August 2021 to eliminate the dimensional requirement
confusion. Mr. Stephenson stated that the second legal issue was what was considered a “lot,” and could
Lots 2 and 7 together be considered a lot? He explained that to answer that, you would use the city’s code
which stated that a “single lot of record was a combination of complete lots of record and portions of other
lots of record.” He argued that that definition suggested that Lots 2 and 7 could be viewed as a single lot
when talking about the same areas that were originally approved. He continued that the idea that the lots
needed to be contiguous was not supported in the code, and that when discussing needed housing the code
City Council Minutes 1 2

July 14, 2022
Page 9 of 15



DRAFT

needed to be clear and objective on its face. He expressed that he did not believe the code was clear and
objective when it came to lot area or when it came to the link between CR zone development standards and
HDR zone development standards. He addressed the stipulation of horizontal area within the lines of a lot in
the definition of “lot area” and stated that it made sense to use horizontal area because height was not being
discussed and the definition referred to “lot.” He stated he understood the policy concerns, but he did not
believe they were relevant in this instance. He explained that being concerned that approving this application
would allow other similar types of applications to also be approved was not a valid reason to deny an
application for the development of housing and that the code had since been amended to close any potential
loopholes that future developers may use. Councilor Scott asked Mr. Stephenson if the idea of allowing non-
contiguous lots to be defined as one lot were to happen, would he include the area of a lot that was located
on the other side of the city to be in the lot area calculation? Mr. Stephenson replied no, but the area in
guestion was once one lot and when the original approvals for the uses on each site were made, the Deacon
tract was a singular lot. He continued that he believed that the circumstances that were being discussed at
this meeting would not come up again except in this type of scenario. Mr. Stephenson stated that the way
density was handled in the CR zone did not apply under the old code, but they clearly did apply under the
new code. Councilor Scott asked if the idea of borrowing the area of one lot to build housing on a different
lot was in the original application or did the idea of borrowing occur after the lots had been subdivided? Mr.
Stephenson replied that the original application did not include the development of housing. Councilor Scott
clarified that the idea of borrowing unit allowance from Lot 7 to build on Lot 2 did not happen until after the
subdivision had occurred, and asked if that was correct? Mr. Stephenson replied that he assumed that was
correct because at the time, there was no discussion of residential density. Councilor Scott stated that in his
opinion, that changed the application from the original application since the area was now subdivided.
Councilor Scott asked if it was correct that the applicant was arguing that because of the definition of
“dimensional requirements,” that there was essentially no limit to the amount of density or the number of
units that could be built because those standards did not apply? Mr. Stephenson replied that their argument
was that the minimum lot area requirements for HDR areas did not apply to the development in the CR zone.
Councilor Scott asked if that was the case, then why did the original application and the amended application
all conform to that section of code if they did not believe that that section of code applied? Mr. Stephenson
replied that city staff had been inconsistent in their review of the application and the permitted number of
units. He continued that it was his responsibility to bring up every argument that they believed was correct
on why the Planning Commission’s decision was wrong. Councilor Scott remarked that the applicant had not
done that when the applicant had voluntarily removed Lot 3 from their application and reduced the number
of units accordingly. He asked why had the applicant not argued that the lot area did not apply at that time?
Mr. Stephenson replied that the owner of Lot 3 had stated that they did not want their lot to be included in
the application, so the applicant voluntarily removed them. Councilor Scott asked, “why throughout the
process have you agreed that this limit matters, and only now on appeal are you saying it doesn't matter?”
Mr. Stephenson replied that it was because he believed that his interpretation of the code was correct and
justified the reversal of the Planning Commission’s decision, and also whether or not the applicant chose to
voluntarily cooperate with staff and neighbors was a separate question. Councilor Giles referred to the
definition of a dimension and asked what their basis was for saying the definition of “lot area” was unclear in
the code? Mr. Stephenson replied that it was the code that was vague on whether or not the math applied
the way the Planning Commission determined it applied. He continued that area was not precisely defined
as a dimensional standard. Councilor Young asked when Lot 3 stated they did not want to be included in the
application, did they demand that the applicant reduce the number of units in the application? Mr. Kilby replied
that no, the owner of Lot 3 did not demand a reduction in the number of units.

City Council Minutes 1 3
July 14, 2022
Page 10 of 15



DRAFT

Brad Kilby, Planning Manager with HHPR, addressed Councilor Scott's comments and stated it was a good
faith neighborhood and stated the developers tried to make their applications approvable. He stated that this
application was the first multifamily development in a mixed use commercial development in Sherwood. Mr.
Kilby explained that it was very common within a commercial development to have a commercial developer
divide and sell their lots. He stated that by amending the code to clarify something, it insinuated that
something was ambiguous and was not clear and objective. He provided an overview of the application’s
proposal on page 4 of Exhibit F and explained that the applicant had reduced the number of units down to
67 units to “be good neighbors” after it was clear that the owner of Lot 3 did not want to be included. He
recapped the site amenities as: walkable; on-site dog park,; access to services, restaurants, gym, and retail;
and was professionally managed. He recapped the building amenities as: lobby with sitting room and
fireplace, interior courtyard, covered patio, mail room, interior bike storage, rooftop patio and community
room, and on-site parking for all units and visitors provided on Lot 2. He recapped the apartment amenities
as: quality construction, wood plank flooring, granite countertops, wood cabinets, stainless steel appliances,
and in-unit washer and dryers. Associate Planner Eric Rutledge clarified that the apartment amenities were
not a part of the original application and therefore could not be discussed at this meeting. Mr. Kilby
summarized that the project should be approved and stated that there was a demonstrated need for multi-
family housing, it provided a place that allowed existing residents to age in place, it was an affordable option
for people who work in Sherwood to live, it was a good location for multi-family housing, it was near
downtown, it had nearby access to transit, it had nearby access to services and retail, and stated that mixed-
use was a good thing. Mr. Kilby asked that Council affirm their appeal and overturn the Planning
Commission’s decision because the standards that were being applied were not clear and objective.

Mayor Mays opened the public hearing and asked for public comment on the applicant’s appeal.

Mark Light, 17117 SW Robinwood Place Sherwood, Oregon 97140, came forward and stated he opposed
the application. He stated he and his wife had been opposed to the development from the beginning because
they utilized the plaza on a daily basis and understood how bad the development would be for the plaza, the
neighborhood, and for Sherwood. He stated that he had provided evidence at every stage of the process
and had provided two code-related reasons why the development was correctly denied at the last hearing.
He commented on the planning density calculation and said Lot 2 could only support 46 units and the
developer was trying to bypass the calculations by using Lot 7 and density transfer in their calculations. He
stated that density transfer was not permitted under the Sherwood planning process, therefore the application
was correctly denied. He stated he disagreed with the argument that the previous code was ambiguous. He
referred to 16.12.030 which stated that multifamily housing was subject to dimension requirements of the
HDR zone when located on upper floors, in the rear of, or otherwise clearly secondary to commercial
buildings. He stated that the development was not located on upper floors, it was located on all floors. He
stated that the development used the entire lot, and therefore the development could not be in the rear of
everything. He stated the development would extend past the end of Lot 3, and therefore would be in front
of the IHOP, the opticians, and the Hops n Drops. He stated the development would not be a secondary part
of the plaza, it would be the primary part of the plaza. Mr. Light stated that there were numerous other
commonsense reasons why the development would have a negative effect on their neighborhood, the plaza,
and Sherwood. He stated there would be traffic congestion at the intersection and parking conflicts amongst
other issues if the development were to occur. He stated that this was the, “wrong development, in the wrong
place, and was correctly denied by the Commission.”

Christopher Koback, 1125 NW Couch, Suite 550, Portland, OR 97209, came forward to testify. Associate
Planner Eric Rutledge clarified that Mr. Koback was representing three individuals so he was able to provide
City Council Minutes 1 4

July 14, 2022
Page 11 of 15



DRAFT

16 minutes of testimony if Council agreed to it. Council stated they agreed to allow Mr. Koback additional
time to speak. Mr. Koback stated that he represented three individual owners within Cedar Park and had
participated throughout the process. He stated that it was probably a good development with good amenities
if it was built to only have 46 units. He added that if it was changed to be 46 units, the application would meet
the clear standards of the city’s code. He stated that the needed housing statute did not need to be invoked
because they believed that the City Council, as the governing body, retained the right to interpret the code,
per ORS 197.829.1. Mr. Koback stated that it was clear that multifamily housing was allowed subject to
dimensional standards, but the question was what was a dimensional standard in that zone under the city’'s
code? He continued that he believed that City Council had the right to interpret the city’s code to determine
what dimensional standards were in that zone. He referred to SZCDC 16.12.030 and read, “no lot area,
setback, yard, landscape area, open space, off street parking or loading area, or other site dimension or
requirement may be reduced below the minimum.” Mr. Koback stated that there were two subsets in that
general provision: dimensional site dimensions and requirements. He continued that when looking at the
development standards table, every item listed was a dimensional standard and was something that one
could measure. He stated that he believed that it was plausible to conclude and interpret the code that those
items listed in the table were the dimensional standards. He stated that the items that were missing from the
table, like landscaping, parking, and lighting, were those other requirements. He remarked that the applicant
had agreed that lot width and lot depth were dimensional standards and Mr. Koback believed that one could
not conclude that lot area was not a dimensional standard if you accepted that it was a product of two
dimensional standards. He commented that under the applicant’'s interpretation, setbacks would not be
considered a dimensional standard, but their application did not make that argument and they were
inconsistent in their interpretation. He addressed the clear and objective argument and stated that this was
where the needed housing statute applied. He read from the statute that said, “only standards, conditions,
and requirements that are clear and objective can be applied” and explained that the interpretation of what
applied was not subject to the statute, but the standard was subject to the statute. He stated that determining
the lot area was clear and objective because it was a measurement and explained that LUBA had said that
just because you have to do some mathematical analysis, such as the averaging of a setback, that did not
make it less clear and objective. Mr. Koback stated that LUBA had said that even when applying the needed
housing statute, it had to be applied in context. He stated that the lot of record may be a legal lot sufficient
for development, but that was not always the case. He explained that it was possible to have a lot of record
that had met the standards at the time and was lawful, but that lot may not meet the standards now. He
continued that the city’s code definition of “lot” gave an applicant who owned more than one lot of record and
were contiguous the ability to join the lots together as one development site because the standards, setbacks,
front yard standards, lot area standards, etc. could be applied. He stated that that did not give the applicant
the right to borrow area from non-contiguous lots and say they were the same lot when it was beneficial to
the applicant as a development standard but also treat the lots as separate units when the applicant decided
to sell them or treat the lots separately. He stated that a more plausible interpretation, and the interpretation
he was advocating for, was that a lot must be a single parcel of land sufficient to meet development
standards. He addressed the argument that because this was once a single development the subdivision
lines could be ignored and cited ORS 92.017 and stated that once lines were created, they remained until
eliminated by some legal process. He stated that those lines meant something, and the applicant benefitted
from having those individual lots to make money from their sale. He remarked that instead of sticking with
the code and proceeding with the 46 units, the applicant was angling to get more money and Mr. Koback
and his clients did not believe that was proper. He addressed the comment that the applicant was acting as
a good neighbor and stated that his clients had explained to the applicant that Lot 2 was not appropriate for
the scope of their development and it would have significant negative impacts on their businesses and the
applicant had refused to change their plans.
City Council Minutes 1 5

July 14, 2022
Page 12 of 15



DRAFT

David Pedersen, 888 SW 5" Avenue Ste 1600 Portland, Oregon 97204, came forward and stated he
represented the owner of Lot 3, Lake Bowman, LLC. He remarked that he agreed with Mr. Koback's
testimony and added that he felt that the applicant was overextending the applicability of the clear and
objective rules with respect to needed housing. He stated that the standards that were applied needed to be
clear and objective and he felt that “lot area” was clear and objective. He continued that the way in which
Council concluded that lot area standards applied was not a question of clarity and objectivity but of code
interpretation, which was Council’s ultimate obligation as the enactors of the code. He referred to Interim City
Attorney Richter’s staff report and stated he agreed with her assertion that the applicant’s interpretation of
the code resulted in a “nonsensical conclusion” and explained that he believed that Council could follow staff
and Mr. Koback’s advice and plausibly conclude that lot area was a dimensional requirement and applied to
the proposal. Mr. Pedersen voiced that he wished to point out that the applicant was advocating for different
interpretations of “lot” as it suited them. He explained that there was a maxim of construction that said that a
single term should be given the same definition throughout unless the code indicated that it should be given
a different meaning for a different purpose, and that in this instance, “lot” and “lot area” meant the same thing
through the entire application. He stated that it was Council’s responsibility to determine a plausible definition
that would be entitled to deference at LUBA.

Garrett Stephenson came forward as an attorney for the Appellant for his rebuttal. He stated that the proposal
was “not the product of an applicant trying to maximize something that it wasn't told it could otherwise do”
and the applicant had developed the project based on the advice of staff. He stated staff's advice changed
just prior to the Planning Commission hearing and that the applicant had been very consistent with their
interpretation of the code. He addressed Councilor Scott’'s question and explained that the applicant had
submitted a memo as early as March 2021 or March 2022 that spoke on the dynamic with the code. He
stated their goal was to only build what was in the application. He stated that he disagreed with Mr. Koback’s
assertion that it “must be a dimension if it can be measured” as the city would have said that had they meant
to. He stated he disagreed with Mr. Koback and Mr. Pedersen’s assertions regarding clear and objective
standards. He argued that it should immediately be apparent what a dimensional standard was when it
directed you to the table of development standards. He referred to the inviolability of lot lines and stated that
that was not at issue here because they were not changing any lot lines. He referred to Mr. Pedersen’s
statement regarding LUBA'’s criteria that the entire code need not be clear and objective and stated that that
might be so, but the city was obligated to only apply clear and objective standards and procedures. He
referred to the question of context and cited 16.60.040 of the city’s code as an example of the code using lot
area and lot dimension separately. He cited 16.68.020 of the city’s code and stated that the code’s own
context was equivocal. He stated that he did not disagree with the math, but that the textual piece of the code
that sent someone to that math did not do what staff and the Planning Commission thought it did.

Mayor Mays closed the public hearing on the appeal and recessed the meeting from 9:30 pm — 9:35 pm.

Mayor Mays asked for discussion or questions from Council. Councilor Scott referred to Mr. Koback’s
testimony that cited the city’s definition of “lot” and asked Interim City Attorney Richter to reread the section
of code aloud. Ms. Richter read the section of the code aloud. Associate Planner Rutledge provided his final
comments and stated that the Appellant repeatedly referred to a memo that they had submitted early on in
the process that stated that the lot area standards and dimensional standards were not clear and objective.
Mr. Rutledge stated he wished to clarify that that memo had been submitted prior to the applicant submitting
their application. He explained that the applicant had completed a pre-application and staff had indicated in
the pre-application notes that the maximum lot area would be able to contain 46 units and the applicant had
City Council Minutes 1 6

July 14, 2022
Page 13 of 15



DRAFT

responded with the above referenced memo. He continued that staff then responded to the memo stating
that the lot area did apply but there was a possibility that the applicant could use other lots as well. He
reported that the applicant then acknowledged and agreed that the lot area applied and then submitted their
application without the memo that recognized that lot area applied and that they would utilize Lots 3 and 7 to
get to the number of units in the application. Mr. Rutledge reported that staff had been consistent in their
assertion that lot area applied, and that the applicant had reintroduced the memo either after the release of
the denial staff report or much later in the process. He continued that staff's recommendation of the possible
option to use Lots 3 and 7 in their calculations had changed after the Planning Commission’s hearings on
the topic and Interim City Attorney Richter’s review of the code. He spoke on the code update and stated
that the update addressed the question about dimensional requirements and made it clear that everything in
the HDR zone applied to multifamily housing in the RC zone. He clarified that the code did not address what
constituted a “lot” and there were many situations that could become problematic for the city if the city agreed
to the Appellant’s interpretation of the code. He stated that the site plan allowed for shared parking,
landscaping, etc., but the code was very clear that there was a mechanism to allow for that, but it did not
provide the opportunity to share lot sizes and commented that it was very clear in the code when sharing
could occur. Mr. Rutledge stated that the applicant’'s argument about the code not being clear and objective
was based on one sentence in the HDR zone code that touched on the differentiation between lot area and
dimensions. Mayor Mays asked why the Planning Commission denied the application instead of approving
it with modifications? Mr. Rutledge replied that the staff report contained a clear path forward for the applicant
to get approval with 46 units by removing Lot 7 and staff had added extra time to the process to allow the
applicant to revise their plans and submit their modified plan to the Planning Commission for approval. He
explained that the Planning Commission did not “condition them down” because the design changes that
would have been required to the building would have required staff to re-review the building. He added that
the unit reduction was too great, and it would have had to come back to the Planning Commission for review
and there was not enough time for that. Councilor Young asked if the applicant had agreed to reduce the unit
number, would they still have had to have brought it back to staff? Mr. Rutledge replied that the staff report
recommended a denial but noted that the applicant could choose to revise the plan to reduce the number of
units to 46 and have the plan be reviewed by the Planning Commission if they chose to. He reported that the
applicant had said that 46 units did not work for them. Councilor Scott suggested that Council discuss each
reason for appeal one at a time. Mayor Mays stated that he supported the findings of staff and the Planning
Commission and he would defer to staff to craft the language for the final decision. Mayor Mays asked that
Interim City Attorney Richter include in the finding that Council supported housing, multifamily housing, and
projects that met the code. He commented that the applicant had not submitted an application that met the
clear and objective standards and staff had suggested that the applicant modify their application to meet
those standards, but they chose not to. Councilor Giles commented that he supported middle housing, but it
was important to do it in the right way so that it fit within the community and neighborhood. He commented
that he felt that staff had made a good faith effort to work with the applicant to get their project approved and
he agreed with Mayor Mays’s comments. Mayor Mays commented that had the applicant not subdivided the
project and if the owner still owned all of the parcels, then he might have come to a different conclusion.
Councilor Scott referred to “Appeal Issue #1” on page 11 of Exhibit C and stated he agreed with the Planning
Commission. He referred to “Appeal Issue #2” on page 12 of Exhibit C and stated that the code’s intent and
language both implied contiguity even if it was not stated explicitly and stated he agreed with the Planning
Commission. He referred to “Appeal Issue #3” on page 13 of Exhibit C and stated he agreed with Mayor
Mays’s comments regarding how this was not a single lot but were non-contiguous lots instead. Mayor Mays
commented he would be supportive of an application that modified the building space on Lot 7 and was made
into a multi-purpose building with housing. Councilor Young stated she agreed with the other Councilor’s
comments and agreed with the Planning Commission’s decision. Councilor Giles encouraged the applicants
City Council Minutes 1 7

July 14, 2022
Page 14 of 15



DRAFT

to reapply. Councilor Garland stated he agreed with Councilor Scott and the Planning Commission and staff
had done their work and he had not found any flaws in their judgments or reasoning. With no further
comments, the following motion was stated.

MOTION: FROM COUNCILOR SCOTT THAT THE CITY COUNCIL TENTATIVELY AFFIRM THE
PLANNING COMMISSION DECISION AND DENY THE APPLICATION BASED ON THE PLANNING
COMMISSION FINDINGS REPORT DATED MAY 24, 2022 AS WELL AS THIS DELIBERATION.
ADDITIONALLY, MOVE THAT THE CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZES THE MAYOR TO SIGN A NOTICE OF
DECISION INCLUDING WRITTEN FINDINGS CONSISTENT WITH THE COUNCIL'S TENTATIVE
DECISION ON OR BEFORE JULY 22, 2022. SECONDED BY COUNCILOR YOUNG. MOTION PASSED
5:0, ALL PRESENT MEMBERS VOTED IN FAVOR (COUNCILOR BROUSE AND COUNCIL PRESIDENT
ROSENER WERE ABSENT).

6. ADJOURN:

Mayor Mays adjourned the meeting at 9:57 pm.

Attest:

Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder Keith Mays, Mayor

City Council Minutes 1 8
July 14, 2022
Page 15 of 15



City Council Meeting Date: August 2, 2022

Agenda Item: Consent Agenda

TO: Sherwood City Council
FROM: David Bodway, Finance Director
Through: Keith D. Campbell, City Manager

SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-061, Reappointing Brian Fairbanks to the Sherwood Budget
Committee

Issue:
Shall the City Council reappoint Brian Fairbanks to the Sherwood Budget Committee?

Background:

A vacancy exists in Position 4 on the Sherwood Budget Committee. Brian Fairbank’s term expired on June
30, 2022. The Mayor has recommended this reappointment to Council. In accordance with City Council
Rules of Procedure, all such appointments are subject to the approval of City Council by resolution.

Note: Position numbers were established with the adoption of Resolution 2019-066 for the purpose of
managing terms.

Financial Impacts:
There are no additional financial impacts as a result of approval of this resolution.

Recommendation:
Staff respectfully recommends City Council approval of Resolution 2022-061, reappointing Brian Fairbanks
to the Sherwood Budget Committee.

Resolution 2022-061, Staff Report 19
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 1



DRAFT

&J gﬁ[fp

1ty of
erWOO

Oregon
Home of the Tialatin River National Wildlife Refige

RESOLUTION 2022-061
REAPPOINTING BRIAN FAIRBANKS TO THE SHERWOOD BUDGET COMMITTEE

WHEREAS, a vacancy exists within Position 4 on the Sherwood Budget Committee; and
WHEREAS, Brian Fairbank’s term expired on June 30, 2022; and
WHEREAS, the Mayor has recommended to Council that Brian Fairbanks be reappointed; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Council Rules of Procedure, all such appointments are subject to the
approval of the City Council by resolution.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The Sherwood City Council hereby reappoints Brian Fairbanks to Position 4 of the
Sherwood Budget Committee for a term expiring at the end of June 2025.

Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.

Duly passed by the City Council this 2" of August, 2022.

Keith Mays, Mayor

Attest:

Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder

Resolution 2022-061 20
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 1



City Council Meeting Date: August 2, 2022

Agenda Item: Consent Agenda

TO: Sherwood City Council
FROM: Brad Crawford, IT Director
Through: Keith D. Campbell, City Manager and Alan Rappleyea, City Attorney

SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-062, Authorizing the City Manager to Sign a Service Order
with 8x8 for Telephony Services

Issue:
Shall the City Council authorize the City Manager to sign a service order with 8x8 for telephony
services.

Background:

In 2006 when city staff moved into the new City Hall building IT staff implemented a new city-wide
phone system. That system is now reaching an age where many of its components are being
deemed end-of-life by the manufacture and needing replacement. Additionally, this system
requires a significant amount of hardware resources and IT staff time to maintain. It is because of
this that IT staff believe it best to move phone services to a hosted provider where this company
maintains all the telephony hardware and support and maintenance are much more streamlined
and simplified.

IT staff have been researching new phone services since early 2021 and have determined the
service provided by 8x8 to be the best solution for the City of Sherwood. The IT department has
been working on a migration plan over the last few months and don’t expect any interruptions with
phone services during business hours. Additionally, all published phone numbers will remain the
same so there should be no issues with the public being able to reach city staff as a result of this
transition.

Financial Impacts:

The service order with 8x8 is for five years totaling $183,846.61. The annual cost for year one is
$41,844.37 and $35,500.56 for years two through five. When staff calculated the five-year costs
on the current phone system those costs were $146,742.26, or $29,348.45 annually. While this
new system costs a bit more annually than the current system IT staff believe the reduced IT
infrastructure, capabilities of the new system, and increased simplicity of operation justify the cost
increase. The funds for this new system are included in the current fiscal year's’ budget.

Recommendation:
Staff respectfully recommends City Council approval of Resolution 2022-062, authorizing the City
Manager to sign a service order with 8x8 for telephony services.

Resolution 2022-062, Staff Report
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 1



DRAFT

regon
Home of the Tialatin River National Wildlife Refiuge

RESOLUTION 2022-062

AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SIGN A SERVICE ORDER WITH
8X8 FOR TELEPHONY SERVICES

WHEREAS, the City of Sherwood’s phone system is over 15 years old and many of the components are
becoming end of life by the manufacture; and

WHEREAS, the current system requires a significant amount of IT resources to support and maintain;
and

WHEREAS, staff believe moving the City of Sherwood’s phone services to a hosted provider will greatly
simplify telephony operations and reduce IT resources; and

WHEREAS, after review of several providers telephony solutions staff believe the service provided by
8x8 to be the best fit for the City of Sherwood; and

WHEAREAS, the agreement with 8x8 is a five-year agreement totaling $183,846.61.

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute a Service Order with 8x8 in an amount
not to exceed $200,000 for telephony services in a form substantially similar to the

attached Exhibit A.

Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.

Duly passed by the City Council this 2" of August 2022.

Keith Mays, Mayor

Attest:

Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder

Resolution 2022-062
August 2, 2022 22
Page 1 of 1, with Exhibit A (3 pgs)



Resolution 2022-062, EXH A

August 2, 2022, Page 1 of 3 Quote #Q-00614850
60 Months Term
(12 Months Renewal Term)

Quote Totals

Payment #1 Payment #2 Payment #3 Payment #4 Payment #5

(Mth 1-12) (Mth 13-24) (Mth 25-36) (Mth 37-48) (Mth 49-60) el
Non-recurring Services
Charges $12,715.45 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $12,715.45 :
Sales Tax $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 Q‘;‘;;‘; /%gges
Shipping $30.36 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $30.36
Total Non-Recurring $12,745.81 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $12,745.81
Recurring Services
Service Fees $25,608.00 $25,608.00 $25,608.00 $25,608.00 $25,608.00 $128,040.00
Taxes & Regulatory Fees $9,892.56 $9,892.56 $9,892.56 $9,892.56 $9,892.56 $49,462.80
Total Recurring $35,500.56 $35,500.56 $35,500.56 $35,500.56 $35,500.56 $177,502.80
Promotional Credit -$6,402.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 -$6,402.00
Annual Total $41,844.37 $35,500.56 $35,500.56 $35,500.56 $35,500.56 $183,846.61
12 months from 24 months from 36 months from 48 months from
Bill Date* Effective Date of Effective Date of Effective Date of Effective Date of Effective Date of
this Order this Order this Order this Order this Order

*8x8 shall bill the total amount indicated for a payment on or about the Bill Date listed for such payment, and customer shall be obligated to pay this amount
pursuant to the Terms.

Summary by Product

Recurring Quantity Base Price Annual Total

X Series - X1 153 $12.00 $22,032.00

Base Number 1 $0.00

X Series - X4 2 $34.00

X Series - X2 10 $18.00 $2,160.00

Additional Local Number 50 $1.00

Voice for Microsoft Teams 164 $0.00

Non-Recurring Quantity Base Price City of Sherwood
Obihai OBi 300 1 port SIP ATA 10 $44.00 . zszti‘i‘?vfg’g %’.‘;;ﬁjﬁt
Public Virtual Instructor Led Training - Admin 1 $500.00 :

Private Virtual Instructor Led Training - End-User 4 $375.00 . Andrew Thomas
8x8 Implementation Plus - Gold 1 $9,000.00 thomas;éi%i‘ffgggfgon_gov
Commercial Integration Services for 8x8 Voice for

Microsoft Teams 1 $240.00

VVX D230 DECT Handset and Base Station - PSU, N/

Plug 3 $140.00 $420.00

Polycom VVX 450 w/ Power Supply - NA 1 $150.00 $150.00

Polycom VVX EM50 Expansion Module 1 $204.00 $204.00

Plantronics Savi 8210 Monaural Headset 1 $261.45 $261.45

$38,323.45

Grand Total

Your 8x8 Representative

$1 83,84661 Derek Bean

derek.bean@8x8.com

The pricing in this quote is a non-binding estimate and may be subject to further approval by 8x8. This quote does not constitute an
offer from 8x8 to sell the services or equipment shown.

23



Resolution 2022-062, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 2 of 3

8x8

Quote #Q-00614850

60 Months Term

(12 Months Renewal Term)

City of Sherwood - 22560 SW Pine St, Sherwood, OR, USA, 97140
Description

X Series - X1
Base Number

X Series - X4

for UC Phone X Series: G for UC phone

Any u

on a Metered basis at 8x8’s stan
Additional Local Number
Voice for Microsoft Teams

Obihai OBi 300 1 port SIP ATA

Public Virtual Instructor Led Training - Admin

Private Virtual Instructor Led Training - End-User

8x8 Implementation Plus - Gold

This is an estimat

P
e

Saas

C(gn{%erciélv Ivn‘tégr'ation Services for 8x8 Voice for
Microsoft Teams

VVX D230 DECT Handset and Base Station - PSU, NA Plug
Polycom VVX 450 w/ Power Supply - NA

Polycom VVX EM50 Expansion Module

Plantronics Savi 8210 Monaural Headset

Quantity

153

10

50

165

10

Unit Price
$12.00
$0.00

$34.00

$18.00

$1.00
$0.00
$44.00
$500.00
$375.00

$9,000.00

$240.00

$140.00
$150.00
$204.00
$261.45

Subtotal

Monthly
Recurring
$1,836.00
$0.00

$68.00

$180.00

$50.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

$0.00

$0.00

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

$2,134.00

Total
$1,836.00
$0.00

$68.00

$180.00

$50.00
$0.00

$ 440.00
$500.00
$1,500.00

$9,000.00

$240.00

$420.00
$150.00
$204.00
$261.45

$ 14,849.45

24



Resolution 2022-062, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 3 of 3

8X8 Quote #Q-00614850

60 Months Term
(12 Months Renewal Term)

Shipping Ground- Delivery Estimate  7/23/2022 $30.36
Regulatory Fees

E911 Service Fee $ 165.00 S 165.00

Regulatory Recovery Fee $ 330.00 $ 330.00
Taxes and Surcharges

Federal Universal Service Fund $123.13 $123.13

OR State And Local 911 $206.25 S 206.25

Total Fees, Taxes and Surcharges $824.38 $824.38

Location Total $2,958.38 $15,704.19

25



City Council Meeting Date: August 2, 2022
Agenda Item: Consent Agenda
TO: Sherwood City Council
FROM: Keith D. Campbell, City Manager

SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-063, Recommending Legislative Priorities to League of Oregon
Cities for the 2023 Legislative Session

Issue:
Shall the Sherwood City Council authorize the City manager to cast a ballot to vote on the legislative
priorities to League of Oregon Cities (LOC) for the 2023 Legislative Session.

Background:

Each even-numbered year the League of Oregon Cities (LOC) appoints policy committee members to
serve on seven different policy committees. Composed of city officials, including several Sherwood city
council members, these policy committees are the foundation of the LOC’s policy making process. Each
committee provides a list of recommended legislative priorities in the form of policy positions and actions.
In total there were twenty-nine proposed legislative priorities. The City of Sherwood can vote for five
legislative priorities that we want the LOC to focus their resources on during the 2023 legislative session.

The Sherwood City Council reviewed this list of the twenty-nine proposed legislative priorities in a work
session held on July 19, 2022. The consensus of the Council was for the following five priorities: Full
Funding and Alignment for State Land Use Initiatives, Lodging Tax Flexibility, Digital Equity and Inclusion,
Incentives for Broadband Affordability, Adoption and Consumer Protections, and Transportation Safety
Enhancements.

Adoption of this resolution will result in the City Manager completing the LOC ballot on behalf of the City
of Sherwood by the newly extended deadline of August 19, 2022. The LOC Board of Directors will take
our input as well as input from other Oregon cities to create a focused set of specific legislative priorities
that reflect the issues of greatest importance to cities.

Financial Impacts:
There are no additional financial impacts as a result of approval of this resolution.

Recommendation:
Staff respectfully recommends City Council approval of Resolution 2022-063, Recommending Legislative
Priorities to League of Oregon Cities for the 2023 Legislative Session.

Resolution 2022-063, Staff Report 26
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 1



DRAFT

&J gﬁ[fp

1ty of
regon
Home of the Tialatin River National Wildlife Refige

RESOLUTION 2022-063

RECOMMENDING LEGISLATIVE PRIORITIES TO LEAGUE OF OREGON CITIES
FOR THE 2023 LEGISLATIVE SESSION

WHEREAS, the League of Oregon Cities (LOC) establishes policy committees in the year prior to the
regular session of the Oregon legislature; and

WHEREAS, the policy committees develop a range of legislative objectives for consideration by the
member cities of the LOC; and

WHEREAS, the City of Sherwood is a member of the LOC and has been requested to provide its top five
(5) priorities from a list of twenty-nine (29) legislative priorities developed by the seven policy committees;
and

WHEREAS, the Sherwood City Council reviewed the list of legislative priorities prior to a Council work
session that was held on July 19, 2022; and

WHEREAS, members of the Sherwood City Council came to a consensus of their top five (5) during the
Council work session; and

WHEREAS, the consensus from the work session was that were the top five (5) priorities of the City of
Sherwood are: Full Funding and Alignment for State Land Use Initiatives, Lodging Tax Flexibility, Digital
Equity and Inclusion, Incentives for Broadband Affordability, Adoption and Consumer Protections, and
Transportation Safety Enhancements.

WHEREAS, with the passage of this resolution, the requested ballot from the LOC will be submitted by the
City Manager indicating this information; and

WHEREAS, the LOC Board of Directors will utilize there submitted priorities along with input from other
member cities to develop the League of Oregon Cities 2023 legislative priorities agenda,;

NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The City Manager is hereby directed to submit a legislative priorities ballot to the League of
Oregon Cities indication the top five (5) priorities of the City of Sherwood are: Full Funding
and Alignment for State Land Use Initiatives, Lodging Tax Flexibility, Digital Equity and
Inclusion, Incentives for Broadband Affordability, Adoption and Consumer Protections, and
Transportation Safety Enhancements.

Resolution 2022-063 27
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 2



Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.

Duly passed by the City Council this 2" day of August 2022.

Keith Mays, Mayor

Attest:

Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder

Resolution 2022-063
August 2, 2022
Page 2 of 2

DRAFT

28



City Council Meeting Date: August 2, 2022

Agenda Item: Public Hearing

TO: Sherwood City Council
FROM: David Bodway, Finance Director
Through: Keith D. Campbell, City Manager and Interim City Attorney, Alan Rappleyea

SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-064, Updating the City of Sherwood Water System Development
Charges Methodology and Amending the Fee Schedule

Issue:
Shall the City Council adopt a resolution updating the Water System Development Charges Methodology
and amend the Fee Schedule?

Background:

Galardi Rothstein Group was hired to perform an analysis of the City of Sherwood’s water system,
document water system upgrades, estimate future water requirements, identify deficiencies, update the
City’'s capital improvement program (CIP), and evaluate the City’'s existing water rates and system
development charges (SDCs).

A work session was held on October 19, 2021 and then again on December 7, 2021 with the City Council
to review the proposed Water SDC Methodology.

Financial Impacts:
The updated proposed Water SDC Methodology will increase the total water SDC'’s about 29.22%.

Recommendation:
Staff respectfully recommends that City Council approve Resolution 2022-064, Updating the City of
Sherwood Water System Development Charges Methodology and Amending the Fee Schedule.

Resolution 2022-064, Staff Report 29
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 1



DRAFT

érf Agilf)

1ty of
regon
Home of the Tialatin River National Wildlife Refige

RESOLUTION 2022-064
UPDATING THE CITY OF SHERWOOD WATER SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT
CHARGES METHODOLOGY AND AMENDING THE FEE SCHEDULE

WHEREAS, City of Sherwood Ordinance 1991-927 and Resolution 91-498 provides that the City may
amend or adopt a new Water System Development Charge (SDC) Methodology Report by resolution; and

WHEREAS, the last Water System Development Charges and Methodology update was completed in
2015; and

WHEREAS, on May 5, 2015, the City of Sherwood adopted an updated Water System Master Plan
(Ordinance 2015-004); and

WHEREAS, the Methodology Report includes updated SDC rates which reflect currently identified needs;
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The City of Sherwood City Council hereby adopts the Water System Development Charges
Methodology Report and Amending the Fee Schedule, attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.

Duly passed by the City Council this 2nd day of August 2022.

Keith Mays, Mayor

Attest:

Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder

Resolution 2022-064 30
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 1, with Exhibit A (10 pgs)



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 1 of 10

Methodology Report

Water System
Development Charges

Prepared For

City of Sherwood

April 22, 2022

GALARDI

ROTHSTEIN
GROUP



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 2 of 10

SECTION 1

Introduction

Oregon legislation establishes guidelines for the calculation of system development charges
(SDCs). Within these guidelines, local governments have latitude in selecting technical
approaches and establishing policies related to the development and administration of SDCs. A
discussion of this legislation follows, along with the methodology for calculating updated water
SDCs for the City of Sherwood (“City”).

SDC Legislation in Oregon

In the 1989 Oregon state legislative session, a bill was passed that created a uniform framework
for the imposition of SDCs statewide. This legislation (Oregon Revised Statute [ORS]
223.297-223.314), which became effective on July 1, 1991, (with subsequent amendments),
authorizes local governments to assess SDCs for the following types of capital improvements:

* Drainage and flood control

*  Water supply, treatment, and distribution

*  Wastewater collection, transmission, treatment, and disposal
* Transportation

e Parks and recreation

The legislation provides guidelines on the calculation and modification of SDCs, accounting
requirements to track SDC revenues, and the adoption of administrative review procedures.

SDC Structure

SDCs can be developed around two concepts: (1) a reimbursement fee, and (2) an improvement
fee, or a combination of the two. The reimbursement fee is based on the costs of capital
improvements already constructed or under construction. The legislation requires the
reimbursement fee to be established or modified by an ordinance or resolution setting forth the
methodology used to calculate the charge. This methodology must consider the cost of existing
facilities, prior contributions by existing users, gifts or grants from federal or state government
or private persons, the value of unused capacity available for future system users, rate-making
principles employed to finance the capital improvements, and other relevant factors. The
objective of the methodology must be that future system users contribute no more than an
equitable share of the capital costs of existing facilities. Reimbursement fee revenues are
restricted only to capital expenditures for the specific system with which they are assessed,
including debt service.

The methodology for establishing or modifying an improvement fee must be specified in an
ordinance or resolution that demonstrates consideration of the projected costs of capital
improvements identified in an adopted plan and list, that are needed to increase capacity in the
system to meet the demands of new development. Revenues generated through improvement
fees are dedicated to capacity-increasing capital improvements or the repayment of debt on
such improvements. An increase in capacity is established if an improvement increases the level
of service provided by existing facilities or provides new facilities.

SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY PAGE 2



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 3 of 10

In many systems, growth needs will be met through a combination of existing available capacity
and future capacity-enhancing improvements. Therefore, the law provides for a combined fee
(reimbursement plus improvement component). However, when such a fee is developed, the
methodology must demonstrate that the charge is not based on providing the same system
capacity.

Credits

The legislation requires that a credit be provided against the improvement fee for the
construction of “qualified public improvements.” Qualified public improvements are
improvements that are required as a condition of development approval, identified in the
system’s capital improvement program, and either (1) not located on or contiguous to the
property being developed, or (2) located in whole or in part, on or contiguous to, property that
is the subject of development approval and required to be built larger or with greater capacity
than is necessary for the particular development project to which the improvement fee is
related.

Update and Review

The methodology for establishing or modifying improvement or reimbursement fees shall be
available for public inspection. The local government must maintain a list of persons who have
made a written request for notification prior to the adoption or amendment of such fees. The
legislation includes provisions regarding notification of hearings and filing for reviews. The
notification requirements for changes to the fees that represent a modification to the
methodology are go-day written notice prior to first public hearing, with the SDC methodology
available for review 60 days prior to public hearing.

Other Provisions

Other provisions of the legislation require:

» Preparation of a capital improvement program (CIP) or comparable plan (prior to the
establishment of an SDC), that includes a list of the improvements that the jurisdiction
intends to fund with improvement fee revenues and the estimated timing, cost, and eligible
portion of each improvement.

* Deposit of SDC revenues into dedicated accounts and annual accounting of revenues and
expenditures, including a list of the amount spent on each project funded, in whole or in
part, by SDC revenues.

» Creation of an administrative appeals procedure, in accordance with the legislation,
whereby a citizen or other interested party may challenge an expenditure of SDC revenues.

The provisions of the legislation are invalidated if they are construed to impair the local
government’s bond obligations or the ability of the local government to issue new bonds or
other financing.

SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY PAGE 3 33



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 4 of 10

SECTION 2

Water SDC Methodology

Overview

The general methodology used to calculate water SDCs begins with an analysis of system
planning and design criteria to determine growth’s capacity needs, and how those needs will
be met through existing system available capacity and capacity expansion. The value of
capacity needed to serve growth is then divided by the projected total growth capacity units to
determine system-wide unit costs of capacity. The final step in the SDC methodology is to
determine how different developments will be charged, based on estimated capacity
requirements.

Determine Capacity Needs

Table 1 shows the planning assumptions for the water system based on the Water System
Master Plan (Master Plan) and current demands. The primary relavent design criterion for
the water system is Maximum Day Demand (MDD), which is the highest daily recorded rate
of water production in a year. As shown in Table 1, the current MDD is 4.19 mgd. Through
development saturation, the City’s water demand is projected to increase by an additional 5.5
mgd to 9.7 mgd total. Future growth is projected to represent about 57 percent of future
MDD.

Table 1
City of Sherwood SDC Analysis
Water System Capacity Analysis

MDD MDD
Timer Period ADD Total Growth
Current (mgd)' 2.02 4.19
Future Saturation (mgd)? 4.3 9.7 5.5
Equivalent Meters® 7,604
Use per EM (gpd) 266 551

1T ADD = 2020, MDD = max between 2016-2020

2 From Water System Master Plan (Table 2-7)

3 From 2021 Rate Model

ADD = Average Day Demand MDD = Max Day Demand; gpd = gallons per day

Table 1 also shows the estimated water use per equivalent meters (7,604). Equivalent meters
represent the number of meters in the system (about 6,050), stated in terms of the relative
hydraulic capacity of each meter size to that of the smallest meter (a 5/8-inch meter). Dividing
the current MDD of 4.19 by the current equivalent meters yields a MDD per equivalent meter
of 551 gallons.

SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY PAGE 4



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 5 of 10

Develop Cost Basis

The capacity needed to serve new development will be met through a combination of existing
available capacity and additional capacity added by planned improvements. The
reimbursement fee is intended to recover the costs associated with the growth-related (or
available) capacity in the existing system; the improvement fee is based on the costs of capacity-
increasing future improvements needed to meet the demands of growth. The value of capacity
needed to serve growth in aggregate within the planning period is referred to as the “cost basis”.

Reimbursement Fee Cost Basis
Table 2 provides the estimated value and growth share of existing system facilities. The growth
share is determined as follows:

* Wells and Related Facilities: The City’s existing wells are used soley for emergency
supply purposes. Based on system planning criteria, the existing wells do not have
excess capacity for growth.

* Willamette River Water Treatment Plant (WRWTP): The City currently owns 5 mgd
of the WRWTP. Current development capacity requirements are 4.19 mgd (from Table
1); therefore, 0.81 mgd (16 percent) is available to serve future growth.

* Storage Reservoirs and Pumping: The Master Plan found existing storage capacity to
be adequate to meet the needs of existing and future development through build-out.
Existing storage facility costs are allocated to growth based on equivalent dwelling units,
as estimated from the Master Plan. As shown in Table 2, the growth allocation equals
53 percent (zone 380) and 70 percent (zone 455).

* Transmission: The City constructed transmission pipes to deliver water from the
WRWTP to the City’s system. A portion of the piping is sized for 40 mgd, while other
segments have a 20-26 mgd capacity. The portion of the capacity that will serve demand
beyond the projected Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) is excluded from the analysis. The
City may be reimbursed for this oversizing capacity cost by future regional water supply
partner(s). The included transmission cost! is allocated between current development
and future growth based on the projected share of future 10 mgd capacity (42 percent
existing and 58 percent growth). The cost basis excludes the $9.6 million 24"
Tualatin/Sherwood line that is currently not planned for use within the City’s system.

The total cost of existing facility capacity allocated to growth is almost $24.4 million, as shown
in Table 2.

1 The included cost is equal to the estimated cost of a 36” transmission line; the minimum pipe size required to serve
customers within the UGB.

SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY PAGE 5 35



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 6 of 10

Table 2
City of Sherwood SDC Analysis
Reimbursement Fee Cost Basis

Total Developer City Growth Share
Description Cost! Cost Cost % $
Wells
Well pump house #3 $71,019 $71,019 0.0% -
Well pump house #4 $83,293 $83,293 0.0% -
Well pump house #5 $130,395 $130,395 0.0% -
Well pump house #6 $543,904 $543,904 0.0% -
Booster pump house $754,830 $754,830 0.0% -
Water metering vaults $153,952 $153,952 0.0% -
Water filtration system $121,845 $121,845 0.0% -
Chemical injection systems $37,953 $37,953 0.0% -
Booster pumps $34,568 $34,568 0.0% -
Well pumps $87,647 $87,647  0.0% -
Group piping, etc. $538,127 $538,127 0.0% -
Emergency generators $230,078 $230,078 0.0% -
Subtotal $2,787,611 $0 $2,787,611 $0
Supply
WRWTP (5 mgd) $10,289,053 $0 $10,289,053 16.3%  $1,673,000
WRWTP Surge Mitigation $436,663 $0 $436,663  16.3% $71,001
Subtotal $10,725,716 $0 $10,725,716 $1,744,001
Pumping
Wyndham (455) $693,653 $0 $693,653 70.4% $488,499
Subtotal $693,653 $0 $693,653 $488,499
Storage
380 Ft zone - Sunset #1 (2mg) $2,328,317 $0 $2,328,317 52.5% $1,223,301
455 Ft zone - Kruger $5,845,154 $0 $5,845,154 70.4% $4,116,395
380 Zone - Sunset #2 (4mg) $13,011,799 $0 $13,011,799 52.5% $6,836,418
Subtotal $21,185,270 $0 $21,185,270 $12,176,114
Transmission
Finished Water Pipeline to
Wilsonville? $22,882,328 $10,068,224 $12,814,104 58.1%  $7,448,838
Meter vault $2,234,406 $0  $2,234,406 58.1%  $1,298,860
380 Zone Reservoir Line2 $3,835,750 $1,687,730 $2,148,020 52.5% $1,128,573
Tualatin/Sherwood 24" $20,596,746 $0 $20,596,746 0.0% $0
Subtotal $49,549,230 $11,755,954 $37,793,276 $9,876,271
Distribution
Sr. Center, June Ct, April Ct $223,594 $0 $223,594 0.0% $0
10" Waterline on 99W $15,687 $0 $15,687 0.0% $0
Sherwood Bvld water line $87,254 $0 $87,254 0.0% $0
SW Sherwood water zone $131,641 $0 $131,641 0.0% $0
Oversize Bouchers-SS $68,321 $0 $68,321 100.0% $68,321
ORSt east waterline relocate $1,035,870 $0  $1,035,870 0.0% $0
Private Development lines $4,487,780 $4,487,780 $0 0.0% $0
Subtotal $6,050,147 $4,487,780 $1,562,367 $68,321
Other
Water Management &
Conservation Plan $45,268 $0 $45,268 0.0% $0
SCADA $75,000 $0 $75,000 30.2% $22,663
Total $90,991,627 $16,243,734 $74,747,893 $24,375,869

'Source: City of Sherwood Fixed Asset Records, adjusted for inflation through December 2021 (ENR 2021 Avg

= 12,133)

2 Excludes costs above minimum pipe size required for retail customers

SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY

PAGE 6

36



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 7 of 10

Improvement Fee Cost Basis

The SDC Project List is shown in Table 3. System capacity may be expanded through the
upgrade of existing facilities or the construction of new facilities. The bases for future growth
portion include:

WRWTP and Future Water Purchases: The City’s current share of WRWTP capacity
(5 mgd) is sufficient to meet the needs of existing development; therefore, the costs of
future intake capacity purchase and WRWTP expansion (5 mgd and 30 mgd) are
allocated entirely to future growth. Performance-related uprgrades at the WRWTP are
allocated between existing and future development in proportion to the use of the
existing 5 mgd City-owned capacity.

Pumping: The Water System Master Plan Update recommendeds three additional
pump stations to meet future demands. The improvements are needed entirely for
future growth.

Storage: Performance upgrades to existing storage facilities are allocated to growth
based on equivalent dwelling units, as estimated from the Master Plan.

Transmission and Distribution: Upgrades to existing water lines are allocated
between existing and future development based on share of future MDD (57 percent
growth). Immediate distribution improvements address existing fire flow capacity
deficiencies, and are therefore, not included in the SDC cost basis. Improvements in
future years are needed to extend the system for future development and are thefore 100
percent SDC eligible.

Planning costs have been identified only through 2034; therefore, the growth allocation
is pro-rated to the 2034 future demand (6 mgd total; which growth represents about 30
percent).

Table 3 indicates that the total costs of the growth-related capital improvements over the
planning period are almost $63 million.

SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY PAGE 7

37



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 8 of 10

Table 3
City of Sherwood SDC Analysis
SDC Project List

Time Project SDC Portion
PROJECT Period Cost % $
Water Supply
Well No. 3 (flexible connections) 20-year $61,000 0.0% $0
Well No. 5 20-year $34,000 0.0% $0
Well No. 6 (flexible connections) 10-year $61,000 0.0% $0
WRWTP Intake imp. +5 mgd purchase 2019/24 $1,600,000 100.0% $1,600,000
WRWTP Seismic& Expansion (5 mgd) 2019/24 $9,570,000 100.0% $9,570,000
AWIA Risk and Resilencey Plan 2022 $50,000 16.3% $8,130
WRWTP 30 mgd Expansion 10-15 yrs $12,750,778 100.0%  $12,750,778
Subtotal $24,126,778 $23,928,908
Pumping
Sunset (flex connections) 2022 $52,000 52.5% $27,321
Wyndham Ridge (flex connections) 2023 $45,000 70.4% $31,691
Ladd Hill (535 PRV)! Saturation $477,000 100.0% $827,000
Kruger (630 zone) Saturation $2,547,000 100.0% $2,547,000
Edy Road (455 Booster)! Saturation $1,505,000 100.0% $1,855,000
Subtotal $4,626,000 $5,288,012
Storage
Sunset Reservoir No. 1 2024 $156,000 52.5% $81,963
Sunset Reservoir No. 2 2024 $116,000 52.5% $60,947
Kruger Road Reservoir 2024 $156,000 70.4% $109,862
Subtotal $428,000 $252,771
Transmission?
Hospital & Police Station, PW, TVF&R 33 2021, 2023 $3,072,000 56.8% $1,745,973
Sunset Reservoirs, TVF&R and Public Works 2022, 2023 $444,000 56.8% $252,348
Sunset Reservoirs to Well No. 3 2021, 2022 $522,000 56.8% $296,679
WRWTP to Sunset Reservoirs (Sherwood) 10-year $1,200,000 56.8% $682,021
WRWTP to Sunset Reservoirs (co-owned) 10-year $1,200,000 56.8% $682,021
TVF&R to Well No. 6 & WWSP connection 5,10-year $840,000 56.8% $477,414
To proposed WWSP WTP 10-year $2,640,000 56.8% $1,500,445
Distribution’
Kruger Reservoir to YMCA 20-Yr + $1,776,000 56.8% $1,009,391
Future High School - Wyndham Ridge PS 20-Yr + $705,600 56.8% $401,028
Wyndham Ridge PS 20-years $403,200 56.8% $229,159
Well No. 4, near Sherwood High 20-Yr + $2,138,400 56.8% $1,215,361
Sherwood High & Well No. 3, N Well No. 5 20-years $794,400 56.8% $451,498
Well No. 3 20-Yr + $345,600 56.8% $196,422
Well No. 6 20-Yr + $873,600 56.8% $496,511
Immediate $234,000 0.0% $0
Brookman Loop (M7-9); TEA exp (M29-34) 5-year $1,349,668 100.0% $1,349,668
M-3 to 6, 10 to 19B, 35 to 37, 40 to 42 10-year $6,135,000 100.0% $6,135,000
M-20 to 28, 43 to 45 20-years $3,954,000 100.0% $3,954,000
M-38, 39, 46 to 59 Saturation $8,619,600 100.0% $8,619,600
Distribution Replacement Program 2034 $1,200,000 56.8% $682,021
PRVs Saturation $600,000 100.0% $600,000
Water Management & Conservation Plan 2028 $150,000 16.3% $24,390
Vulnerability Assessment 2031 $60,000 30.2% $18,130
Subtotal $39,257,068 $31,019,078
Other
Public Works Facilty 10-year $4,350,000 56.8% $2,472,325
Subtotal Other $4,350,000 $2,472,325
| Total $72,787,846 86% $62,961,094
Includes land costs ($350,000).
2Pipe projects include additional 20% contingency due to materials price increases since cost estimates
developed.
SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY PAGE 8

38



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 9 of 10

SDC Schedule

The unit costs of capacity are determined by dividing the reimbursement and improvement fee
cost bases, by the growth-related capacity defined in Table 1. The unit costs are stated in terms
of dollars ($) per gallon of water demand. Table 4 shows these calculations.

Table 4
City of Sherwood SDC Analysis
Water System SDC Unit Costs

Total Reimbursement Improvement

Growth Cost $87,336,963 $24,375,869 $62,961,094
Growth Requirements (gallons) 5,513,000 5,513,000 5,513,000
Unit Cost ($/gallon) $15.84 $4.42 $11.42
MDD per Equivalent Meter (gpd) 551 551 551
SDC per Equivalent Meter $8,723 $2,435 $6,288
Compliance Costs $112.74

Total SDC $8,836

As indicated in Table 4, the cost bases are divided by the 5.5 mgd projected future system
capacity, and the resulting unit cost ($/gallon) for reimbursement and improvement are $4.42
and $11.42, respectively.

SDC are then calculated by multiplying the unit cost of capacity by the capacity requirements
of an equivalent meter (551 gpd). The resulting reimbursement and improvement SDCs are
$2,435 and $6,288, respectively.

Compliance Costs

Local governments are entitled to spend SDC revenue on costs associated with complying with
the SDC statutes. Compliance costs include costs related to developing the SDC methodology
and project list (i.e., a portion of facility planning costs), and annual accounting and
administrative costs. Table 5 shows the calculation of the compliance charge per equivalent
meter, which is estimated to be $112.74.

Table 5
City of Sherwood
Estimated Water SDC Compliance Costs

Frequency
Item Cost SDC % (Years) Annual
SDC Study $7,500 100% 5 $1,500
Master Plan $150,000 57% 10 $8,525
Staff Accounting $597 100% 1 $597
Financial Management $4,103 100% 1 $4,103
Engineering $3,171 100% 1 $3,171
Accounting $663 100% 1 $663
Total Compliance Costs $18,560
Estimated Annual EDUs 165
Cost per EDU $112.74

SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY PAGE 9 39



Resolution 2022-064, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 10 of 10

SDC Schedule

The total SDC (including compliance charge) for a 5/8” meter is $8,836. SDCs for other meter
sizes are based on the estimated capacity requirements of each meter relative to a a 5/8” meter.

The SDC schedule is show in Table 6.

Table 6
City of Sherwood SDC Analysis
SDC by Meter Size
Meter Size EDU SDCi SDCr Compliance Total SDC
5/8" 1.0 $6,288 $2,435 $113 $8,836
3/4" 1.5 $9,433 $3,652 $169 $13,254
1" 25 $15,721 $6,087 $282 $22,090
1.5" 5.0 $31,442 $12,173 $564 $44,179
2" 8.0 $50,308 $19,477 $902 $70,687
3" 17.5 $110,048 $42,606 $1,973 $154,627
4" 30.0 $188,654 $73,039 $3,382 $265,075
6" 62.5 $393,029 $152,164 $7,046 $552,240
8" 90.0 $565,962 $219,117 $10,146 $795,225

Inflationary Adjustments

In accordance with Oregon statutes, the SDCs may be adjusted annually based on a standard
inflationary index. Specifically, the uses the Engineering News Record (ENR) construction
cost index for Seattle as the basis for adjusting the SDCs.

SHERWOOD WATER SDC METHODOLOGY

PAGE 10

40



City Council Meeting Date: August 2, 2022

Agenda Item: Public Hearing

TO: Sherwood City Council
FROM: Erika Palmer, Planning Manager
Through: Kristen Switzer, Community Services Director and Keith D. Campbell, City Manager

SUBJECT: Resolution 2022-065, Updating the City of Sherwood Parks System Development
Charge Methodology and amending the Fee Schedule

Issue:
Shall the City Council adopt a resolution updating the Parks System Development Charge Methodology
and amend the Fee Schedule?

Background:

The City of Sherwood recently adopted an updated Parks Master Plan in early 2021. The City has a Park
SDC, however the methodology has not been updated since 2004 (Ordinance 2004-077) and it does not
account for updated plans and projects. A full review of the planned projects and growth expectations is
needed to ensure that the SDC is adequate. After adoption of the Parks Master Plan in 2021, the city
engaged FCS GROUP to update its Parks SDC based on that plan.

A 90-day notice to consider changes to the Parks SDC was provided pursuant to ORS 223.304. The
draft technical report addressing the methodology and calculation of the potential charges was available
for review on June 3, 2022. At the time of this staff report, no formal comments have been received.

A worksession was held on May 3, 2022, and then again on June 21, 2022, with the City Council to
review the proposed Parks SDC Methodology. The proposed Parks SDC will charge both residential and
non-residential new development.

The proposed recommended approached for SDC implementation is to adopt a 6-month phased in Park
System SDC and to cost index the SDC to make annual adjustments.

Financial Impacts:

The updated proposed Park SDC Methodology will increase Park SDC's for both residential and non-
residential new development. Even if the City implements the full parks SDCs calculated, SDC revenues
will not be sufficient to fund the entire Parks Master Plan project list. An additional $57.8 million will need
to be raised from other, non-SDC, sources.

Recommendation:
Staff respectfully recommends that City Council approve Resolution 2022-065, Updating the City of
Sherwood Park System Development Charges Methodology and amending the Fee Schedule.

Resolution 2022-065, Staff Report 41
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 1



DRAFT

érf Agilf)

1ty of
regon
Home of the Tialatin River National Wildlife Refige

RESOLUTION 2022-065
UPDATING THE CITY OF SHERWOOD PARKS SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT
CHARGES METHODOLOGY AND AMENDING THE FEE SCHEDULE

WHEREAS, City of Sherwood Ordinance 2001-118 provides that the City may amend or adopt a new
Parks System Development Charge (SDC) Methodology Report by resolution; and

WHEREAS, the last Parks System Development Charge and Methodology update was completed in 2004
(Ordinance 2004-077); and

WHEREAS, on May 18, 2021, the City of Sherwood adopted an updated Parks and Recreation Master
Plan (Ordinance 2021-004); and

WHEREAS, the Methodology Report includes updated SDC rates which reflect currently identified needs;
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY OF SHERWOOD RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. The City of Sherwood City Council hereby adopts the Parks System Development Charges
Methodology Report, attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Section 2. This Resolution shall be effective upon its approval and adoption.

Duly passed by the City Council this 2nd day of August 2022.

Keith Mays, Mayor

Attest:

Sylvia Murphy, MMC, City Recorder

Resolution 2022-065 42
August 2, 2022
Page 1 of 1, with Exhibit A (13 pgs)



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 1 of 13

City of Sherwood

PARKS SYSTEM
DEVELOPMENT

CHARGE
METHODOLOGY

Report
April 19, 2022

Washington

7525 166th Avenue NE, Ste. D215
Redmond, WA 98052
425.867.1802

Oregon

5335 Meadows Road, Ste 330
Lake Oswego, OR 97035
503.841.6543

Colorado

PO Box 19114

Boulder, CO 80301-9998
719.284.9168

www.fcsgroup.com

This entire report is made of readily

recyclable materials, including the bronze .‘
wire binding and the front and back cover, ’ ‘ F R l l P
which are made from post-consumer .’

recycled plastic bottles.

p y Solutions-Oriented Consulting

43




Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 2 of 13

City of Sherwood
April 19, 2022

Parks System Development Charge Methodology
page ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1oL Lo 00101 (=T 1 €TSS i
RST=To (1o o I R [ o To [V T1 o) o RSP 1
LA (0= U SUUPPRPRPIN 1
I.B. o] U SUUPPRRPIN 1
Lot o (N | T N TP RRPPR 3
ILA. LT (011 { | IO 3
I.B. IMPIOVEMENE FEE...uunniiiiiieiiiieeee ettt et e e e e e e e et tee e e e e e e e e e aaeeeeeesersaataaeaeaaeeens 6
I.C. CalCUIATEA SDC... ittt ettt ettt ettt et e et e e e e eee e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s aaa e e e aaaabaaaaaaataaaaaaaatattranrrnnnrares 8
I1.D. COMPATISONS .vveeeeeeeeeeetiieeeeeeeeeeeet i ceeeeeeeeeeea it eeeeeeeeeeaaataaeeeeeesss st eeeesessaataeeeeessssstaaaeeeaessssrnnnns 9
Section . IMPIEMENTALION .. ..eiiiiiiic e e et e s erare e enees 11
W ¥ o Vo [ o o - PP PR R SPPPPPPNt 11
8= TR [ To 3 T PP PPPPRPPNt 11

< FCS GROUP

44



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 3 of 13

City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge Methodology
April 19, 2022 page 1

Section|. INTRODUCTION

This section describes the project scope and policy context upon which the body of the report is
based.

lLA. PROJECT

The City of Sherwood (City) imposes a system development charge (SDC) to provide partial funding
for the capital needs of its parks system. The current parks SDC is charged to both residential and
non-residential new development.

In May, 2021, the City adopted a new Parks & Recreation Master Plan. Later that year, the City
engaged FCS GROUP to update its parks SDC based on that new master plan.

|.B. POLICY

SDCs are enabled by state statutes, authorized by local ordinance, and constrained by the United
States Constitution.

|.B.1. State Statutes

Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS) 223.297 to 223.314 enable local governments to establish SDCs,
which are one-time fees on development that are paid at the time of development or redevelopment
that creates additional demand for park facilities. SDCs are intended to recover a fair share of the
cost of existing and planned facilities that provide capacity to serve future users -- growth.

ORS 223.299 defines two types of SDC:

m A reimbursement fee that is designed to recover “costs associated with capital improvements
already constructed, or under construction when the fee is established, for which the local
government determines that capacity exists”

®  An improvement fee that is designed to recover “costs associated with capital improvements
to be constructed”

ORS 223.304(1) states, in part, that a reimbursement fee must be based on “the value of unused
capacity available to future system users or the cost of existing facilities” and must account for prior
contributions by existing users and any gifted or grant-funded facilities. The calculation must
“promote the objective of future system users contributing no more than an equitable share to the
cost of existing facilities.” A reimbursement fee may be spent on any capital improvement related to
the system for which it is being charged (whether cash-financed or debt-financed).

$ FCS GRC 45



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 4 of 13

City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge Methodology
April 19, 2022 page 2

ORS 223.304(2) states, in part, that an improvement fee must be calculated to include only the cost
of projected capital improvements needed to increase system capacity for future users. In other
words, the cost of planned projects that correct existing deficiencies or that do not otherwise increase
capacity for future users may not be included in the improvement fee calculation. An improvement
fee may be spent only on capital improvements (or portions thereof) that increase the capacity of the
system for which it is being charged (whether cash-financed or debt-financed).

In addition to the reimbursement and improvement fees, ORS 223.307(5) states, in part, that “system
development charge revenues may be expended on the costs of complying” with state statutes
concerning SDCs, including “the costs of developing system development charge methodologies and
providing an annual accounting of system development charge expenditures.”

|.B.2. Local Ordinance

Chapter 15.16 of the Sherwood Municipal Code authorizes and governs the imposition and
expenditure of SDCs in Sherwood.

|.B.3. United States Constitution

The United States Supreme Court has determined that SDCs, impact fees, or other exactions that
comply with state and/or local law may still violate the United States Constitution if they are not
proportionate to the impact of the development. The SDCs calculated in this report are designed to
meet all constitutional and statutory requirements.

¥ FCS

46



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 5 of 13

City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge Methodology
April 19, 2022 page 3

Section ll. ANALYSIS

This section provides the detailed calculations of the maximum allowable parks SDC.

In general, SDCs are calculated by adding a reimbursement fee component (if applicable) and an
improvement fee component—both with potential adjustments. Each component is calculated by
dividing the eligible cost by growth in units of demand. The unit of demand becomes the basis of the
charge. Below is an illustration of this calculation:

Maximum Allowable

Reimbursement Improvement System
Fee Fee Development
Charge
Eligible cost of - Eligible cost of
unused capacity planned capacity
in existing + increasing —
facilities facilities
+ + per unit of demand
Growth in system Growth in system
demand demand

LA, GROWTH

The calculation of projected growth begins with defining the units by which current and future
demand will be measured. Then, using the best available data, we quantify the current level of
demand and estimate a future level of demand. The difference between the current level and the
future level is the growth in demand that will serve as the denominator in the SDC calculations.

IILA.1. Unit of Measurement

A good unit of measurement allows an agency to quantify the incremental demand of development or
redevelopment that creates additional demand for park facilities. A great unit of measurement allows
an agency to distinguish different levels of demand added by different kinds of development or
redevelopment.

ILA.1.a Options

For parks SDCs, demand that can be attributed to individual developments is usually measured in the
number of people who will occupy a development. For residential developments, the number of
occupants means the number of residents. We use data from the U. S. Census Bureau to estimate the
number of residents for different kinds of dwelling units. For non-residential developments, the
number of occupants means the number of employees. We use industry data to estimate the number
employees per square foot for different kinds of non-residential developments.

47

\

e

©
f%) CDNOTT
X E GROL



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 6 of 13

City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge Methodology
April 19, 2022 page 4

When an agency chooses to impose a parks SDC on both residential and non-residential
developments, the demand of one additional resident must be carefully distinguished from the
demand of one additional employee. This is usually accomplished by the calculation of a residential
equivalent. One resident is equal to one residential equivalent, and one employee is typically less
than one residential equivalent.

.A.1.b Recommendation

The City finds that non-residential developments are a significant source of demand for parks
facilities. We therefore recommend that the City continue to charge parks SDCs for non-residential
development as well as continuing to charge parks SDCs for residential development.

II.LA.2.  Demand Adjustment for Non-Residential Users

To charge parks SDCs to both residential and non-residential developments, we must estimate both
(1) how much availability non-residential occupants (i.e., employees) have to use parks facilities and
(2) how that availability differs from residential occupants (i.e., residents).

The calculation begins with the most recent counts for population and employment in Sherwood. As
shown below, in 2019 (the most recent year for which both population and employment data were
available), 19,595 residents lived in Sherwood, and 6,485 employees worked in Sherwood. Of these,
824 people both lived and worked in Sherwood.

Table 1
Living Inside  Living Outside
2019 Inflow/Outflow Analysis Sherwood Sherwood Total
Working inside Sherwood 824 5,661 6,485
Working outside Sherwood 9,202
Not working 9,569
Total 19,595

Source: US Census Bureau: OnTheMap Application

Next, we estimate the number of hours per week that each category of person would be available to
use the parks facilities in Sherwood. Table 2 below shows our estimate of maximum availability. It
is not an estimate of actual use.

FCS C




Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 7 of 13

City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge Methodology
April 19, 2022 page 5
Table 2

Hours per Week of Park

Availability per Person, Living Inside  Living Outside
Residential Demand Sherwood Sherwood
Working inside Sherwood 72

Working outside Sherwood 72

Not working 112

Source: FCS GROUP

Hours per Week of Park

Availability per Person, Non- Living Inside  Living Outside
Residential Demand Sherwood Sherwood
Working inside Sherwood 10 10
Working outside Sherwood

Not working

Source: FCS GROUP

A person who both lives and works in Sherwood is allocated 72 hours per week of residential
availability and 10 hours per week of non-residential availability. This is not double counting.
Rather, it is a careful distinguishing of the two types of demand.

When the hours of availability above are multiplied by the counts presented earlier, we can determine
the relative demand of residents and employees. As shown in Table 3 below, the parks demand of
one employee is equivalent to the parks demand of about 0.11 resident. To put it another way, the
parks demand of 9.15 employees is equivalent to the parks demand of one resident.

Table 3

Total Hours per Week of Park Residential Residential

Availability, 2019 Hours Hours Total Hours
Working inside Sherwood 59,328 64,850 124,178
Working outside Sherwood 662,544 662,544
Not working 1,071,728 1,071,728
Total 1,793,600 64,850 1,858,450
Hours per resident 91.53

Hours per employee 10.00

Employee Residential Equivalent 0.109

Source: Previous tables

II.LA.3. Growth in Demand

The current (2021) demand for parks facilities is 21,241 residential equivalents. That number is the
sum of 20,496 residents and 745 residential equivalents for 6,818 employees.

During the forecast period from 2021 to 2040, the residential population is expected to grow by
12,504 residents to a total of 33,000 residents. If total residential equivalents remain proportionate to
the residential population, then residential equivalents will grow by 12,958 to a total of 34,199
residential equivalents. Therefore, 12,958 residential equivalents will be the denominator for the
SDC calculations later in this report.

% FCS GROUP 49



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 8 of 13

City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge Methodology
April 19, 2022 page 6

Table 4 below summarizes these calculations:

Table 4

Growth

from 2021

to 2040

Population 19,595 20,496 33,000 12,504
Employees 6,485 6,818 10,978 4,160
Residential Equivalent Employees 708 745 1,199 454
Total Residential Equivalents 20,303 21,241 34,199 12,958

Source: Previous tables

I1.B. IMPROVEMENT FEE

An improvement fee is the eligible cost of planned projects per unit of growth that such projects will
serve. Since we have already calculated growth (denominator) above, we will focus here on the
improvement fee cost basis (numerator).

II.B.1.  Eligibility

A project’s eligible cost is the product of its total cost and its eligibility percentage. The eligibility
percentage represents the portion of the project that creates capacity for future users.

For parks SDCs, eligibility is determined by a level-of-service analysis that quantifies the park
facilities that are needed for growth (and are therefore eligible to be included in an improvement fee
cost basis). We perform this analysis using acres of park facilities and targeting the future level of
service after all of the projects in the planning period have been finished. Determining eligibility
based on the future level of service means that only those project costs that exceed the cost of curing
any existing deficiency are considered eligible.

The City has 66.68 acres of park facilities in 2021. That equals 3.25 acres per 1,000 residents. The
project list will add 52.00 acres, bringing the total acres to 118.68. This will change (increase) the
level of service to 3.60 acres per 1,000 residents. If this level of service were applied to the 2021
population, the City would need 73.71 acres of parks and natural areas. Since the City currently has
only 66.68 acres, there is a deficiency of 7.03 acres. Thus, project costs for adding new acres of parks
and natural areas can be considered 86.48 percent eligible. As an additional result of the deficiency,
there is no available capacity that could be included in a reimbursement fee.

Table 5

Current Level of Service Future Level of Service
Current Quantity Quantity Units per 1,000

Quantity (as of  Planned (per Planned by  New Quantity residents in - Minimum 2021 Reimburseable
By Unit of Measurement 2021) CIP) 2041 Needed Eligibility 2041 Quantity Eligibility
Acres 66.68 52.00 118.68 40.68 78.23% 3.60 73.11 86.48% 0.00

II.B.2.  Expansion Projects

The first of the City’s two project lists includes projects that will expand the inventory of the parks
system and are therefore subject to the eligibility calculations described above. As shown in Table 6
below, this project list has a total cost of $44.3 million.

< FCS GROUP



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 9 of 13

City of Sherwood
April 19, 2022

Table 6

Parks System Development Charge Methodology
page 7

Total Cost

Expansion Projects

Sherwood West Concept Area Park Development 10+ years
Sherwood West Concept Area Park Land Acquisition 10+ years
Sherwood Fieldhouse Replacement 5-10 years
Sports Complex 10+ years
Total

Eligibility Eligible Cost

$ 12,600,000 86.48% $ 10,896,318
12,750,000 86.48% 11,026,036
7,500,000 86.48% 6,485,903
11,400,000 86.48% 9,858,573
$ 44,250,000 86.48% $ 38,266,831

Multiplying the total cost of $44.3 million by the eligibility of 86.48 percent results in total eligible

cost for the expansion list of $38.3 million.

11.LB.3.  Infill Projects

The second of the City’s two project lists includes projects that will not expand the inventory of the
parks system by adding acres but that will nevertheless add capacity for future users by adding
amenities. As shown in Table 7 below, this project list has a total cost of $78.7 million. The capacity
expanding portion of these costs is listed in the final column and totals to $29.7 million.

Table 7
Infill Project Timing
Atley Estates 5-10 years
Langer Park 5-10 years
Murdock Park 1-5 years
Pioneer Park 1-5 years
Stella Olsen Memorial Park 5-10 years
Woodhaven Park 5-10 years

Natural Area Management

Marjorie Stewart Senior Community Center Expansion 10+ years
Sherwood Center for the Arts 1-20 years
YMCA (City of Sherwood Owned Building) 1-20 years
Brookman Concept Area Parks 1-20 years
10-Minute Walk Park Improvements 1-20 years
Trail Network Expansion/Improvement 10+ years
Pump Track 5-10 years
Disc Golf Course 1-20 years
Dog Park 1-20 years
Universally Accessible Destination Play Area 5-10 years
Splash Pad 5-10 years
Festival Plaza 1-20 years
Pedestrian Undercrossing 1-20 years
Pedestrian and Bike Bridge 1-20 years
Public Art 1-20 years
Total

Total Cost  Eligibility Eligible Cost
$ 403,000 37.89% § 152,700
1,724,000 37.89% 653,239
2,246,000 37.89% 851,030
1,504,000 37.89% 569,879
2,300,000 37.89% 871,491
1,740,000 37.89% 659,302
150,000 0.00% -
6,300,000 37.89% 2,387,127
900,000 37.89% 341,018
30,000,000 37.89% 11,367,273
6,375,000 37.89% 2,415,545
1,500,000 37.89% 568,364
1,500,000 37.89% 568,364
350,000 37.89% 132,618
50,000 37.89% 18,945
150,000 37.89% 56,836
1,750,000 37.89% 663,091
500,000 37.89% 189,455
550,000 37.89% 208,400
6,412,057 37.80% 2,429,587
12,000,000 37.89% 4,546,909
250,000 37.89% 94,727
$ 78,654,057 37.82% $ 29,745,901

51



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 10 of 13

City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge Methodology
April 19, 2022 page 8

II.B.4. Calculated Improvement Fee Cost Basis

As shown in Table 8 below, the combined SDC cost basis is $68.0 million, and it consists solely of
an improvement fee cost basis.

Table 8

Future Level of

SDC Cost Basis Service (by Unit)
Eligible costs by category:
Reimburseable Acreage $ -
Infill Projects 29,745,901
Expansion Projects 38,266,831
Total Eligible Costs $ 68,012,731

II1.C.  CALCULATED SDC

This section combines the eligible costs from the two project lists and applies adjustments for fund
balance and compliance costs. The result is a total SDC per residential equivalent.

We then use census data to estimate the number of residents per dwelling unit and calculate SDCs for
residential dwelling units. For non-residential development, we provide both an SDC per employee
and an estimate of the number of employees per 1,000 square feet of different types of non-
residential development.

II.C.1.  Adjustments

Unspent improvement fee revenue represents projects that remain unbuilt. Because these projects
remain on the project list and are part of the improvement fee cost basis, it is reasonable to reduce
this cost basis by the amount of revenue already received for those projects that remain on the list.
However, as the City has not provided any data on SDC fund balance, we have made no deduction
from the improvement fee cost basis.

ORS 223.307(5) authorizes the expenditure of SDCs on “the costs of complying with the provisions
of ORS 223.297 to 223.314, including the costs of developing system development charge
methodologies and providing an annual accounting of system development charge expenditures.”
However, the City has elected not to estimate future compliance costs.

II.C.2. SDC per Residential equivalent

Table 9 below is a complete schedule of calculated parks SDCs by residential equivalent and by land
use:

< FCS GROUP

52



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 11 of 13

City of Sherwood

April 19, 2022

Table 9

Parks System Development Charge Methodology

Calculated Impact Fee Future LOS Units

Cost basis:

Project Cost Basis
less: Debt Deduction

less: SDC Fund Balance
Total Cost Basis

Growth in Residential Equivalents

SDC per Residential Equivalent

Land Use Category
Single-family dwelling unit
Multi-family dwelling unit
Manufactured home
Accessory dwelling unit
Employee

Equivalent Residential
Multiplier / Occupancy

2.857
1.774
1.833
1.000
0.109

$ 68,012,731
$ 68,012,731
12,958

$ 5,249

$ 14,997
9,310

9,622

5,249

573

Source: American Community Survey and Previous Tables

As shown above, the maximum allowable charge is $5,249 per residential equivalent, and the

page 9

resulting SDC for a single-family residence is $14,997. SDCs for other types of dwelling units vary

by average occupancy as shown in Table 9.

The calculated non-residential SDC of $573 per employee can be applied by using Table 10 to

estimate the number of employees that will work in the proposed development.

11.D.

Non-Residential Land Use

Manufacturing

Wholesale, Transportation and Utilities

Retail

Finance, Insurance, and Real Estate
Services (not including food services)
Government/Education

Restaurant
Mini-storage

Table 10

$ 0.94
0.47
0.67
1.35
1.18
1.57
2.35
0.02

per Sq.
per Sq.
per Sq.
per Sq.
per Sq.
per Sq.
per Sq.
per Sq.

Ft.
Ft.
Ft.
Ft.
Ft.
Ft.
Ft.
Ft.

Sq. Ft. per

Employee
500

1,000

700

350

400

300

200
20,000

Source: Snohomish County Buildable Lands Report and Previous Tables

COMPARISONS

Table 11 shows how both the existing and calculated SDCs compare with parks SDCs in selected
jurisdictions:

< FCS GROUP

53



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 12 of 13

City of Sherwood
April 19, 2022

Parks System Development Charge Methodology

Table 11

Parks SDC Comparison

Sherwood (calculated)

Tualatin Hills PRD (Bonny Slope West)
Tualatin Hills PRD (North Bethany)
Tualatin Hills PRD (South Cooper Mountain)
Beaverton

Tigard

Tualatin Hills PRD (District-wide no overlay)
Sherwood (existing)

Tualatin

Newburg - Chehalem Park District

Forest Grove

McMinnville

Single
Family

Residence

14,997 §
12,789
12,645
12,624
11,787
10,903
10,800
8,999
8,548
8,432
6,010
2,617

Office Bldg. (per

Multi-Family sq. ft.)

9,310 §
10,206
10,091
10,075

8,840

8,011

8,619

6,754

6,371

7,426

6,010

2,617

1.64
1.03
1.03
1.03
1.33
1.83
1.03
0.27
1.72

2.88

< FCS GROUP

page 10

54



Resolution 2022-065, EXH A
August 2, 2022, Page 13 of 13

City of Sherwood Parks System Development Charge Methodology
April 19, 2022 page 11

Section lll. IMPLEMENTATION

This section addresses practical aspects of implementing SDCs.

LA, FUNDING PLAN

Even if the City implements the full parks SDCs calculated above, SDC revenues will not be
sufficient to fund the project list. As shown in Table 12, an additional $57.8 million will need to be
raised from other, non-SDC, sources.

Table 12
Resources:
Beginning fund balance $ -
SDC Revenue 68,012,731
Other Needed Revenue 57,765,326
Total resources $ 125,778,057
Requirements:
Project list (total cost) $ 125,778,057
Ending fund balance -
Total requirements $ 125,778,057

III.B.  INDEXING

ORS 223.304 allows for the periodic indexing of SDCs for inflation, as long as the index used is:

(A) A relevant measurement of the average change in prices or costs over an identified time
period for materials, labor, real property or a combination of the three;

(B) Published by a recognized organization or agency that produces the index or data source
for reasons that are independent of the system development charge methodology; and

(C) Incorporated as part of the established methodology or identified and adopted in a
separate ordinance, resolution or order.

We recommend adjusting parks SDCs each year by the percentage change in the Construction Cost
Index for Seattle published in the Engineering News-Record over the preceding 12 months.

99



	01 City Council Packet Cover 08.02.2022
	02 City Council Mtg Agenda 08.02.2022
	AGENDA

	03  07.14.2022 City Council Meeting Minutes - DRAFT
	6. ADJOURN:

	05  Resolution 2022-061 Reappoint Brian Fairbanks to Budget Committee - Staff Report
	06  Resolution 2022-061 Reappoint Brian Fairbanks to Budget Committee - DRAFT
	07  Resolution 2022-062 Auth Service Order with 8x8 Telephone System - STAFF REPORT
	08  Resolution 2022-062 Auth Service Order with 8x8 Telephone System - DRAFT
	09  Resolution 2022-062 Auth Service Order with 8x8 Telephone System - EXH A
	10  Resolution 2022-063 Adopt LOC 2023 Priorities - STAFF REPORT
	11  Resolution 2022-063 Adopt LOC 2023 Priorities - DRAFT
	14  Resolution 2022-064 Water SDC Methodology Update - STAFF REPORT
	15  Resolution 2022-064 Water SDC Methodology Update - DRAFT
	UPDATING THE CITY OF SHERWOOD WATER SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT
	CHARGES METHODOLOGY AND AMENDING THE FEE SCHEDULE

	16  Resolution 2022-064 Water SDC Methodology Update - EXH A
	17  Resolution 2022-065 Park and Rec SDC Methodology Update -STAFF REPORT
	18  Resolution 2022-065 Park and Rec SDC Methodology Update -DRAFT
	UPDATING THE CITY OF SHERWOOD PARKS SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT
	CHARGES METHODOLOGY AND AMENDING THE FEE SCHEDULE

	19  Resolution 2022-065 Park and Rec SDC Methodology Update - EXH A
	Table of Contents
	Section I. Introduction
	I.A. Project
	I.B. Policy
	I.B.1. State Statutes
	I.B.2. Local Ordinance
	I.B.3. United States Constitution


	Section II. Analysis
	II.A. Growth
	II.A.1. Unit of Measurement
	II.A.1.a Options
	II.A.1.b Recommendation

	II.A.2. Demand Adjustment for Non-Residential Users
	Table 1
	Table 2
	Table 3

	II.A.3. Growth in Demand
	Table 4


	II.B. Improvement Fee
	II.B.1. Eligibility
	Table 5

	II.B.2. Expansion Projects
	Table 6

	II.B.3. Infill Projects
	Table 7

	II.B.4. Calculated Improvement Fee Cost Basis
	Table 8


	II.C. Calculated SDC
	II.C.1. Adjustments
	II.C.2. SDC per Residential equivalent
	Table 9
	Table 10


	II.D. Comparisons
	Table 11


	Section III. Implementation
	III.A. Funding Plan
	Table 12

	III.B. Indexing





